

Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Department of Plant Breeding

Exploring Ancient and Alien Cereal Germplasms to Advance Sustainable Wheat Breeding for Enhanced Functional, Nutritional, and Sensory Quality

Olawale Olalekan



Introductory paper at the Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop Production Science, 2024:4 Alnarp, Sweden 2024

Exploring Ancient and Alien Cereal Germplasms to Advance Sustainable Wheat Breeding for Enhanced Functional, Nutritional, and Sensory Quality

Olawale Olalekan, <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0627-8807</u>, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Plant Breeding

Year of publication: 2024, Alnarp, Sweden
Publisher: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Faculty of Landscape Architecture,
Horticulture, and Crop Production Science
Cover picture: Nutritional components of wheat and undesirable Cadmium. Photo: Olalekan Olawale
Title of series: Introductory paper at the Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop
Production Science
Number of part of series: 2024:4
ISBN (electronic): 978-91-8046-647-9
DOI: 10.54612/a.125844vc36

Keywords: Wheat breeding, Quality traits, Genetic control, Food security, Growing environment

Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet Swedish University of agricultural Sciences

Abstract

Global food security is increasingly threatened by numerous challenges, including widespread malnutrition. Nutritional deficiency, particularly in essential micronutrients such as Zinc (Zn) and Iron (Fe), affects over three billion people worldwide, with pregnant women and children being the most vulnerable. Wheat, as principal cereal crop, provides more than 50% of daily caloric for many populations, contributing essential nutrients such as proteins, vitamins, minerals, and phytochemicals. Wheat's adaptability to diverse growing conditions and its wide production and consumption make it the most important staple crop globally, and a strong candidate for addressing nutritional deficiencies. However, enhancement of wheat's quality traits is constrained by the limited genetic diversity within modern cultivars. In contrast, wild relatives and ancient cereals harbor significant genetic variation that can be exploited for crop improvement. Identifying, characterizing, and deploying key genetic loci for quality traits, facilitated by modern breeding tools such as marker-assisted selection (MAS),—offer pathways for the enhancement of both functional and nutritional qualities in wheat. This review examines the current understanding and advancements in wheat quality improvement, with an emphasis on ancient cereals and alien germplasms, and highlights the role of advanced breeding methodologies for optimizing the nutrition, sensory, and end-use qualities of wheat across different growing environments.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Genetic Diversity	3
3. The Wheat Crop	4
4. Importance of Genetic Diversity for Wheat Improvement	5
5. Plant Breeding-Based Solutions	6
6. Wheat Nutrient Composition	7
6.1 Wheat Energy Contribution	7
6.2. Wheat Protein	8
6.2.1 Wheat Gluten Protein	9
6.2.2 Wheat Gluten Subunits	9
6.2.3 Genetic Control of Wheat Gluten	11
6.2.4 Measurement of Wheat Protein Content and Gluten Composition	12
6.3 Wheat Amino Acid Composition	13
6.4 Wheat Mineral Composition	16
6.5 Dietary Fiber in Wheat	17
7. Wheat Phytochemicals	18
7.1 Polyphenols in Wheat	19
7.1.1 Antioxidants in Wheat	20
8. Different Genetic Origin of Wheat	22
8.1 Wheat-Alien Introgression Lines	22
8.2 Landraces, Old and Ancient Wheat	23
9. Wheat Growing Conditions in Sweden	25
9.1 Organic Farming and Its Importance	25
9.2 Heavy Metals	26
9.2.1 Cadmium Impact on Food Security Challenges in Sweden and Possible Solution	1 26
10. Wheat Bread-Making	28
10.1 Bread-Making Quality	28
10.2 Bread-Making Quality Testing	29
11. Other Quality Test	29
11.2 Sensory Evaluation	29
11.2.2 Sensory Evaluation Techniques	30
11.2.3 Descriptive Analytical Analysis Assessment	30
12. Molecular Markers	30
12.1 High-throughput genotyping in wheat	31
12.2 Genome-Wide Association Studies (GWAS)	33

12.3 Kompetitive Allele Specific PCR (KASP)	. 34
Acknowledgement	34
References	35

List of Figures:

Figure 1: Genetic variations in wheat wild relatives. Adapted from (Voss-Fels et al., 2019)	
with modifications	. 5
Figure 2: Some important quality traits in wheat (Contribution of 100g of whole wheat to the	2
daily recommended intake (DRI))	. 7
Figure 3: Protein composition and Gluten subunits in wheat1	10
Figure 4: Phytochemicals composition in wholegrain wheat (Adapted from Ammar et al.,	
2023 and Tian et al., 2022)	21
Figure 5: Causes and effects of Cadmium uptake in wheat grain	27

List of Tables:

Table 1: Protein and corresponding genes related to wheat grain quality	2
Table 2: List of important amino acids and minimum recommended adult intake (RAI) of	
essential amino acid (g/100 g protein) from protein (%N × 5.7) according to WHO/FAO/UNU	J
Expert Consultation (2002, Geneva, Switzerland)1	5
Table 3: Comparative table showing the maximum allowable cadmium levels (in mg/kg wet	
weight) for different crops in Sweden and the EU (Commission regulation, 2023)28	8

1. Introduction

The world faces numerous challenges, including an increasing population, climate change resulting in extreme weather conditions (Patz *et al.*, 2014), and political instability (Aisen and Veiga, 2013), which threatens food security. Other concerns such as pest and disease infestation on crops (McBeath and McBeath, 2010), increasing changes in food preferences of consumers due to an increased health awareness (Shiferaw *et al.*, 2013), and malnutrition from inappropriate food consumption, aggravate the problem. A coordinated effort is being made to find sustainable and environmentally friendly solutions to these concerns in which breeding plays a crucial role by developing crops rich in nutrients, which can contribute to addressing nutritional deficiencies and improving food security (Bouis, 2002; Welch and Graham, 2004; Agovino *et al.*, 2019; Singh *et al.*, 2021; Reynolds and Braun, 2022). A key aspect of addressing these global challenges is understanding cereal grains' role in human nutrition and food security.

Cereal grains have been a major part of the human diet for thousands of years with a significant impact on the development of the human civilization (Sarwar *et al.*, 2013; Shiferaw *et al.*, 2013). Thus, cereals are essential staples for the everyday existence of billions of people, thereby contributing to over 50% of the global daily calorie intake (Awika, 2011). In addition to protein, cereal grains contain a plethora of other chemical compounds that are beneficial to the body, such as fatty acids, vitamins, elements such as iron, calcium, zinc, phosphorus, manganese, copper, molybdenum, polysaccharides, and bioactive compounds, e.g. phenolics (Borneo and León, 2012). Among the various cereal grains, wheat stands out as a particularly important staple crop due to its wide adaptability and nutritional profile.

Wheat is a major staple crop among the cereals (Shewry and Hey, 2015a; Tadesse *et al.*, 2016) which is grown across the world, specifically in the temperate regions, and it provides both energy and nutrition to the human food (Le Gouis *et al.*, 2020). Wheat is an important source of carbohydrates, protein, vitamins, dietary fiber and phytochemicals, thereby, contributing both to growth cells and the regulation of cell functions (Bálint *et al.*, 2001; Hussain *et al.*, 2012b; Irakli *et al.*, 2015; Guzmán, *et al.*, 2019). The increasing global demand for wheat is driven by its versatility in food production and the need to meet diverse dietary preferences.

Currently, there is an increasing need for wheat in new markets outside its climate adaptation region (Le Gouis *et al.*, 2020). The capacity to create novel food products, each with unique quality components, is raising the consumption of wheat and driving the global demand for it

(Shewry and Hey, 2015a). Wheat grain quality is essential, although the requirements varies across the value chain, e.g. for farmers, millers, food processors, and consumers, and the processing method and end-use product plays a vital role (Hernández-Espinosa *et al.*, 2018). The quality traits of wheat include characters such as grain texture, milling quality, protein attributes, mineral content, vitamin, baking quality, grain and flour colour and flavour. Thereby, specific quality standards are utilized for wheat to suit a wide range of food products (Ganno *et al.*, 2017). Understanding the factors influencing wheat quality, including genetic and environmental interactions, is crucial for meeting these diverse requirements.

Several studies (Graybosch *et al.*, 1995; Curic *et al.*, 2001; Budak *et al.*, 2003; Yong *et al.*, 2004; Johansson *et al.*, 2005; Drezner *et al.*, 2007; Horvat *et al.*, 2012) have shown that enduse quality (EUQ) of wheat is influenced by both genotype and environment (agronomic input and weather), and their interactions. To improve the various quality attributes of wheat, the amount and pattern of genetic diversity in available germplasm need to be utilized (Kronstad, 1986; Warburton *et al.*, 2006, Kashif *et al.*, 2021). Knowledge of genetic control over quality traits, gene-environment interactions, and how these interactions affect the expression of quality traits, breeders' selection efficiency (Subedi *et al.*, 2023). To enhance these quality traits, breeders can employ various modern technological approaches to accelerate the development of superior cultivars.

Enhanced selection and accelerated development of cultivars with distinctive grain properties will potentially be achieved through the use of various approaches applying modern technologies such as genomic tools (molecular markers, genomic selection, genetic data platforms, etc.), genome editing, high-throughput phenotyping, speed breeding and big data handling, etc. (Gordeeva *et al.*, 2019; Gordeeva *et al.*, 2020; Loskutov; Khlestkina, 2021; Johansson *et al.*, 2024). In elite cultivars, yield has been prioritized over quality attributes, making them a less suitable source of genes for enhancing unique qualities in wheat (Rajaram and Braun, 2008; Reynolds *et al.*, 2009). Old cultivars, ancient cereals e.g. spelt, einkorn and emmer, wheat wild relatives such as *Aegilops* spp., and wheat introgression lines (crosses between wheat and close relative cereals) are good sources of genetic variation for distinctive quality features (Gadaleta *et al.*, 2023). Additionally, the growing demand for organic products necessitates the development of wheat cultivars that thrive under organic farming conditions.

In recent years, the demand for organically grown crops has increased due to their lower chemical footprint, which is believed to contribute positively to public health and the environment (Zaccone *et al.*, 2010). This believes may relate to the fact that organically grown crops environment typically exhibit higher microbial biomass and activity, as well as greater biodiversity (Reganold *et al.*, 2010). Thus, there might be a need to develop wheat cultivars for different markets, and for both conventional and organic field production. This trend is particularly relevant in countries like Sweden, where organic farming is on the rise and plays a significant role in the agricultural landscape.

Wheat is a major crop in Sweden and also a major exportable item (FAOSTAT, 2022). Recent years have resulted in significant fluctuations in global wheat yield, although, for Swedish wheat production a general increase is reported from 1971 to 2020, and the total production volume was 3.21 million tonnes in 2020 (FAOSTAT, 2022). Sweden is among the countries in the EU with the highest share of organic farmland in terms of percentage of total EU agricultural land in 2021 and also with a high organic food consumption per capita (Eurostat, 2023). This introductory paper aims to delve deeper into the specific qualities of wheat that are valuable for both conventional and organic production, focusing on ancient and alien cereal lines. It will summarize the current state-of-the-art knowledge related to nutrition, taste, texture, and EUQ in ancient cereals and wheat-alien introgression lines and outline methods for assessing these parameters.

2. Genetic Diversity

Genetic variation refer to the diversity of genetic material within populations or species and arises from differences in DNA sequences among individuals (Cardinale *et al.*, 2012; Bhandari *et al.*, 2017). This diversity lead to a range of phenotypic traits such as height, yield, disease resistance, and environmental tolerance (Ribaut *et al.*, 2002). Genetic variation is generated through several processes, including random mutations during DNA replication, recombination, and genetic drift (Oladosu *et al.*, 2016). Mutations, which are heritable changes in the DNA sequence, can introduce new alleles or genetic variation serves as the foundation for evolution by providing the raw material upon which natural selection acts (Salgotra and Chauhan, 2023). Furthermore, artificial selection harnesses genetic diversity to enhance specific traits for breeding objectives (Gregory, 2009). Genetic variation is important because it can enhance resistance to biotic stresses such as diseases and pests, increase tolerance to abiotic stresses such as drought, heat and salinity, improve yield, influence end-use quality traits, and provide protection against future uncertainties (Jaiswal *et al.*, 2010; Rahmatov *et al.*,

2016a; Lan *et al.*, 2022). However, effectively managing and utilizing genetic variation requires understanding its nature and distribution (Hilbish and Koehn, 1987). This can be determined using morphological, biochemical, or molecular markers which are tools that help in assessing genetic diversity and aid in the selection of desirable traits for breeding programs (Jaiswal *et al.*, 2010; Bhandari *et al.*, 2017).

3. The Wheat Crop

Wheat belongs to the grass family (Poaceae), includes a variety of species whose seed are cultivated as staple foods globally (Devos, 2010). Alongside rice and maize, wheat is one of the three major crops that contribute more than 55% of the crop-based food energy to the human global population (Awika, 2011). The origin and domestication of wheat can be traced to the Fertile Crescent, where its wild ancestors first emerged (Feldman, 2001; Zohary *et al.*, 2012). The genus (*Triticum*) encompasses species that are diploid (2n = 2x = 14, AA), tetraploid (2n = 4x = 28, AABB), and hexaploid (2n = 6x = 42, AABBDD) (Vishwakarma *et al.*, 2018; Sharma *et al.*, 2021). The domesticated wheat species are derived from wild ancestors: *Triticum urartu*, *Aegilops speltoides*, and *Aegilops tauschii*, which contributed the AA, BB, and DD genomes, respectively (Levy and Feldman, 2022). Wild emmer (*Triticum turgidum* ssp *dicoccoides*) was domesticated as *T. turgidum* ssp *dicoccum*, from which *T. turgidum* ssp durum and other tetraploid species are thought to have originated, potentially from a cross between *T. Urartu* and *Ae. speltoides* (Zeibig *et al.*, 2022).

Wheat is cultivated across various climates, ranging from temperate to tropical regions (Mondal *et al.*, 2016), with a significant role as staple crop in temperate regions (Shewry, 2009). It is grown as both winter wheat, sown in autumn and harvested in summer, and spring wheat, sown and harvested within the same year. Wheat is classified based on characteristics such as texture, color, and gluten content (Guzmán *et al.*, 2014; Vishwakarma *et al.*, 2018), resulting in classes such as hard red spring wheat, hard red winter wheat, soft red winter wheat, and soft white wheat (Posner, 2000; Finney *et al.*, 1987). Wheat is used to produce a wide range of food products, including bread, pasta, breakfast cereals, pastries, and snacks (Posner, 2000; Mastrangelo and Cattivelli, 2021). Additionally, wheat is utilized in animal feed (Adamović *et al.*, 1998), beverages (Pasqualone *et al.*, 2018), and for biofuel production (Tishler *et al.*, 2015).

Wheat plays a relevant role in food security especially global nutrition (Shewry and Hey, 2015a). However, its cultivation is increasingly threatened by various diseases (Figueroa *et al.*,

2018), pests (Lopes *et al.*, 2016), and environmental stresses such as drought (Steenwerth *et al.*, 2014), and frost (Xiao *et al.*, 2018), which can adversely affect both yields and quality.

4. Importance of Genetic Diversity for Wheat Improvement

One major prerequisite for developing new cultivars or achieving breeding objectives is the presence of genetic diversity for the targeted trait of interest (Monasterio and Graham, 2000). Modern wheat cultivars are bred to adapt to the environments in which they are grown. They are designed to achieve high yield, resist prevailing diseases, and tolerate abiotic stresses such as drought (Bedő and Láng, 2015). As a result, the genetic base of these cultivars is often narrower than that found in old, ancient and alien wheat lines (Raman et al., 2010). With climate change expected to alter cultivation conditions significantly, novel genetic variation might be required to maintain functionality, enhance nutritional value, reduce grain heavy metal uptake, and provide resistance to emerging pathogenic strains (Rahmatov, 2016b; Alvarez and Guzmán, 2018; Bashir et al., 2023; Gadaleta et al., 2023; Lan et al., 2024). Several methods can introduce novel genetic diversity into an adapted wheat background, including hybridization, mutation, asexual reproduction, recombination, and genetic engineering (Rauf et al., 2010; Li et al., 2012; Nadeem et al., 2018). To date, hybridization has been the primary method for gene transfer (Molnár-Láng and Linc, 2015; Alvarez and Guzmán, 2018). Wheat-alien introgression lines, old and ancestral cultivars, heritage crops, wild wheat relatives, and landraces are abundant reservoirs of valuable traits (Cakmak et al., 2000; Kashif et al., 2021). These resources offer potential for enriching breeding programs aimed at improving modern cultivars (Chhuneja et al., 2006; Johansson et al., 2020b; Gadaleta et al., 2023).



Figure 1: Genetic variations in wheat wild relatives. Adapted from (Voss-Fels et al., 2019) with modifications.

5. Plant Breeding-Based Solutions

Plant breeding provides powerful tools for developing new crop cultivars to address various challenges facing modern agriculture (Ceccarelli and Grando, 2020), including feeding an increasing population (Fedoroff *et al.*, 2010; Hawkesford *et al.*, 2013), combating climate change (Snowdon *et al.*, 2021; Messina and Cooper, 2022), tackling food insecurity (Lenaerts *et al.*, 2019), and alleviating nutritional deficiencies (Srinivasa *et al.*, 2014). Leveraging the latest advancements in breeding technologies (Yu *et al.*, 2020) and genetic research (Sun *et al.*, 2022), plant breeders can substantially contribute to developing a more sustainable and resilient food system for the future (Nestel *et al.*, 2006; Cooper and Messina, 2022).

Historically, plant breeding has focused on selecting plants with desirable traits such as larger grains and a greater number of flowers and fruits resulting in increasingly productive crop cultivars (Fischer and Edmeades, 2010). Recent studies have demonstrated the opportunity to develop climate-smart crops designed to be resilient, adaptable to varying climatic conditions, and capable of thriving in stressful environments (Cooper and Messina, 2022). Such crops could play a vital role in ensuring food security even under climate change conditions, which brings extremes and increasingly frequent and severe droughts (Ceccarelli and Grando, 2020). With predicted climate change scenarios, crops tolerant to dry conditions will become increasingly important (Cooper and Messina, 2022). Drought-tolerant crops can be developed through traditional breeding methods or modern technologies. Traits associated with drought tolerance include deeper root systems (Lan et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2023), improved heat stress tolerance (Bellundagi et al., 2022), and enhanced water use efficiency (Hou et al., 2023). Additionally, many people globally suffer from nutrient deficiencies (Stein, 2010; WHO, 2022), leading to various health problems (Black, 2003). Developing crops with higher levels of essential nutrients, such as iron, zinc, and vitamins, is crucial for improving the nutritional content of the food supply (Ortiz-Monasterio et al., 2007; Velu et al., 2022). Furthermore, crop diseases cause significant yield losses, thereby threatening global food security (Mahmuti et al., 2009). Developing disease-resistant crops is crucial for global food security (Piquerez et al., 2014). This involves identifying resistance-conferring genes or traits and using them to breed new cultivars via traditional or molecular breeding methods such as genetic engineering (Li et al., 2012; Rahmatov et al., 2019). Furthermore, breeders have the potential to develop nitrogen-use efficient crops, contributing to sustainability by reducing the need for chemical fertilizers (Hitz et al., 2017).

6. Wheat Nutrient Composition

Wheat is arguably the most important food crop globally, given its significant consumption and impact on human nutrition (Shewry and Tatham, 2016). Wheat contributes approximately 30% of the calories, more than 20% of the protein, 37-40% of the dietary fiber, 38-40% of iron (Fe), and nearly 30% of the folates to the daily intake of adults in highly industrialised countries (Shewry and Tatham, 2016). Wheat is also a valuable source of vitamins and minerals such as thiamine, riboflavin, niacin, and folate (Batifoulier *et al.*, 2006; Shewry and Hey 2015a). Aside from its nutritional properties, wheat is a valuable source of other minerals such as phosphorus, potassium, calcium, and magnesium (Li *et al.*, 2004).



Figure 2: Some important quality traits in wheat (Contribution of 100g of whole wheat to the daily recommended intake (DRI))

6.1 Wheat Energy Contribution

Energy is essential for all living organisms, including humans, for whom carbohydrates are the primary source, contributing 45-70% of the total energy intake (Lafiandra *et al.*, 2014). Carbohydrates are classified based on their degree of polymerization and sugar composition into monosaccharides, disaccharides, oligosaccharides, starch (amylose and amylopectin) and non-starch polysaccharides (fibers). Mature wheat grain contains approximately 65-75% carbohydrates, the majority of which is starch. Around 1% consist of monosaccharides (glucose and fructose) and disaccharides (maltose and sucrose), another 1% is oligosaccharides

(raffinose and fructo-oligosaccharides), 1-2% is fructans, and about 10% comprises cell wall polysaccharides (cellulose, arabinoxylan and dietary fibers). Wheat bran consists of 50% of polysaccharides with a low starch content, whereas the starchy endosperm is composed of approximately 83-84% starch (Shewry *et al.*, 2020). The remaining 16-17% comprises proteins, fats, vitamins, and minerals. Wheat bran also contains bioactive compounds such as polyphenols and antioxidants, which offer various health benefits, like reducing inflammation, improving digestion, and protecting against chronic diseases (Stevenson *et al.*, 2012).

6.2. Wheat Protein

Wheat is renowned for its versatility and ability to be processed into various food products (Shewry and Tatham, 2016). These characteristics are primarily determined by the protein concentration and composition in the wheat caryopsis (Gupta *et al.*, 1996). The wheat grain is formed by two sperm cells fertilizing the egg, where one develops into the starchy endosperm and the other forms the germ and bran (Bechtel *et al.*, 2009). The starchy endosperm, which contains mainly starch, also contributes storage proteins known to significantly impact the bread-making quality of wheat (Payne, 1987). The protein content in a mature wheat seed is normally 7 - 22% of the dry weight (Vogel *et al.*, 1976; Shewry and Hey, 2015a).

Wheat proteins are classified into two major types based on solubility: gluten and non-gluten proteins (Ma *et al.*, 2019). Non-gluten proteins include albumin, which is soluble in water, and globulin, which is soluble in a saline solution. Among the non-gluten proteins are the alphaamylase inhibitors, which modulate starch digestion (Singh *et al.*, 2001). Gluten proteins form the cohesive mass known as gluten, which remains after washing dough made from flour and water with a substantial volume of water or saline solution (Shewry, 2019). These proteins constitute approximately 80% of the total protein content in mature wheat grain (Shewry and Hey, 2015a; Bromilow *et al.*, 2017) and are composed of gliadin, which is soluble in 60-70% alcohol, and glutenin, which is soluble in either alkali or acid solutions (Shewry and Tatham, 2016). Gliadin imparts viscosity and extensibility to the dough, enhancing its ability to stretch without deforming easily, while glutenin contributes strength and elasticity (Shewry *et al.*, 2003a).

The combined influence of gluten proteins is pivotal for wheat processing, as they provide a range of functional attributes critical for baking (Johansson and Svensson, 1995). Numerous studies (Johansson, 1989; Ma *et al.*, 2019; Shewry, 2019) have shown that the composition of the gluten proteins plays a central role in determining the fundamental characteristics of both

flour and dough, ultimately influencing their suitability for transformation into finished products.

6.2.1 Wheat Gluten Protein

The properties that underpin dynamic functionalities and end-use qualities of wheat are influenced not only by the gluten protein concentrations but also by the composition and combination of different gluten proteins and their subunits (Johansson *et al.*, 1994; Shewry *et al.*, 2003a; Liu *et al.*, 2023). The balance between gliadin and glutenin components in wheat flour significantly affects its functional properties (Johansson *et al.*, 2013; Ma *et al.*, 2019). Glutenins are particularly influential in the bread-making characteristic of wheat flour due to the formation of intra- and inter-chain disulphide bridges (covalent bonds) within and between subunits (Johansson and Svensson, 1998; Johansson *et al.*, 2013; Shewry and Hey, 2015a). This property of the glutenins contributes to the formation of the dough and its complex matrix of a continuous network, resulting in elastic properties and strength (Johansson *et al.*, 2013). Gliadins, on the other hand, primarily form intra-molecular disulphide cross-links in their native state (Markgren *et al.*, 2020, 2022) and contribute to the viscosity of wheat dough, allowing it to stretch without easily breaking (Shewry *et al.*, 2003a).

6.2.2 Wheat Gluten Subunits

The processing, functional, and end-use qualities of wheat flour are strongly influenced by the composition of the gluten proteins (Payne, 1987; Johansson and Svensson, 1995). Techniques such as sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) are widely utilized to separate gluten proteins and subunits based on size or molecular weight; thus, aiding in understanding their composition (Gupta et al., 1996). Additional analytical methods, including isoelectric focusing (IEF), high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), capillary electrophoresis and mass spectroscopy, have also been adapted to analyse compositional variation and the polymerisation behaviour of these proteins. Gliadin, a component recognized for imparting viscosity and extensibility to wheat dough, primarily comprises individual gluten protein units in their monomeric form (Wrigley et al., 2006). Gliadin can be further divided into distinct subunits, namely alpha, beta, gamma, and omega, each contributing to its overall structure and functionality (Shewry et al., 2003a). A newly identified subunit referred to as delta has been reported in recent studies (Altenbach et al., 2019), although ongoing research is dedicated to confirming its existence and characteristics. Due to the similarity of their amino acid sequences, alpha and beta gliadin subunits are collectively designated as alpha-type gliadin subunits (Wrigley et al., 2006). In contrast, the Glutenin component, which imparts elastic properties to wheat gluten, is divided into high molecular weight glutenin subunits (HMW-GS) and low molecular weight glutenin subunits (LMW-GS) monomers (Wieser et al., 2023). HMW-GS are generally known as polymers, while LMW-GS are referred to as monomers in their native state. LMW-GS can be further separated, based on size, isoelectric points, and composition into B, C, and D subunits (Shewry, 2019). The B-type subunit of LMW-GS has two groups differentiated by methionine and serine amino acids (Wrigley et al., 2006). HMW-GS are polymeric gluten proteins and can be divided into x- and y-type subunits (Shewry et al., 2003b). Examples of HMW-GS pairs include 1, 2*, 21* from the 1A chromosome, 6+8, 7+9 from the 1B chromosome, and 5+10, and 2+12 from the 1D chromosome (Johansson and Svensson, 1995). Molecular and biochemical studies have revealed that gluten proteins are structurally and evolutionary associated, and that they are either soluble in alcohol-water mixture as monomers (gliadins) or in basic or acidic condition as reduced subunits (glutenin polymers) (Bromilow et al., 2017). Based on solubility, gluten proteins are classified into three groups (Shewry and Tatham, 2016). The HMW subunits group; the sulfur-rich group, which includes alpha-type gliadin, gamma-gliadins, and B- and C-type LMW glutenin subunits; and the sulfur-poor group, which consists of omega-gliadins and Dtype LMW glutenin subunits (Shewry and Halford, 2002). The amino acid sequence of C- and D-type LMW glutenin subunits is similar to omega gliadins, with the former exhibiting additional cysteine residues that enable interchain disulfide bridge formation, an effect of mutation (Bromilow et al., 2017).



Figure 3: Protein composition and Gluten subunits in wheat

6.2.3 Genetic Control of Wheat Gluten

Several studies have reported chromosomal locations of gluten protein genes, which is crucial for identifying genes controlling gluten protein and developing markers for rapid selection of these traits among different wheat genotypes (Shewry et al., 2003a; Distelfeld et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2021). Gliadin protein genes are located on Gli-A1, Gli-B1 and Gli-D1 loci of hexaploid wheat (Camerlengo et al., 2017). These loci linked to omega and gamma-gliadins subunits and are located on the short arms of chromosomes 1A, 1B and 1D, respectively (Hsia and Anderson, 2001). Similarly, alpha-type gliadins are linked to genes located on Gli-A2, Gli-B2 and Gli-D2 loci on the short arms of Chromosomes 6A, 6B and 6D, respectively (Dubois et al., 2016). The genes encoding HMW-GS are complex and located in Glu-A1, Glu-B1 and Glu-D1 loci on the long arm of chromosomes 1A, 1B and 1D, respectively, where eaach locus are containing x- and y-type subunits based on size and biochemical properties (Shewry, 2019). However, due to gene silencing, wheat genotypes typically have between three to five HMW-GS genes. For instance, Glu-A1 may contribute none or one subunit, Glu-B1 may contribute one or two, and Glu-D1 consistently contribute two subunits (Johansson et al., 1993). Notably, the x- type is the only expressed HMW-GS at Glu-A1 and Glu-B1 when only one subunit is expressed at these loci (Shewry et al., 2003a). There are also allelic differences among HMW-GS that contributing to genetic variation influencing baking properties of wheat. These differences can be analyzed using the SDS sedimentation test (Johansson et al., 1993; Johansson and Svensson, 1995). The differences include subunits such as 1x, 2*x, 6x, 7x, 8y, 9y, 5x, 2x, 10y and 12y HMW-GS. The subunit 1Ax5 has a unique disulfide structure, and 1Ax7 is consistently present in high amounts compared to other HMWGS. (Johansson et al., 1993; Johansson and Svensson, 1995). The LMW-GS are controlled by genes located at the GLU-A3, Glu-B3 and Glu-D3 loci on the short arm of the homoelogous chromosomes 1A, 1B and 1D (Shewry and Tatham, 2016).

Protein/Enzymes	Gene	Chromosome	Reference
		location	
Granule-bound starch synthase 1	Wx-1	7AS, 7BL, 7DS	Chao <i>et al.</i> (1987), Ainsworth <i>et al.</i> (1993), Yamamori <i>et al.</i> (1994)
Starch Snythase II or SGP-1 (SGP-A1, SGP-B1 and SGP- D1)	SS-IIa	7AS, 7BS, 7DS	Li et al (1999, 2003) Shimbatal <i>et al.</i> (2005)
Starch branching enzyme SGP2 Grain Hardness	SBE IIa, -IIb	2AL, 2BL, 2DL	Nair <i>et al.</i> (1997), Rahman <i>et al.</i> (2001)
Puroindoline A (Pin A)	Pina- D1	5DL	Li et al. (2008)
Puroindoline B (PIN B)	Pin b-D1	5DS	Ali <i>et al.</i> (2015)
Grain softness Protein	Gsp-1	5DS	Jolly et al. (1996)
α - and β - gliadins	Gli-2	6AS, 6BS, 6DS	Metakosvsky <i>et al.</i> (1984)
γ- and GD-gliadins	Gli-1	1AS, 1BS, 1DS	Metakosvsky <i>et al.</i> (1984)
HMW-GS	Glu-1	1AL, 1BL, 1DL	Payne (1987)
LMW-GS	Glu-3	1AS, 1BS, 1DS	Singh and Sheperd (1988). Liu (1995)

Table 1: Protein and corresponding genes related to wheat grain quality

6.2.4 Measurement of Wheat Protein Content and Gluten Composition

Protein plays a significant role in the human diet, it helps in biochemical and enzymatic processes in support of the body's optimal growth and development, hormonal regulation, and disease prevention, among others (Hoffman and Falvo, 2004; Mæhre *et al.*, 2018; Hayes, 2020). Protein is a critical component of wheat, and the quality of wheat protein indicate not only its nutritional value, which is essential for human health and well-being (Johansson *et al.*, 2014; Shewry and Hey, 2015a), but also affects the economic value of the various products made from it (Hayes, 2020). The concentration of protein is a key factor in determining wheat protein value (Hayes, 2020). Several researchers have employed different techniques to quantify protein content, including the Kjeldahl technique, Dumas technique, Near-infrared reflectance spectrometry (NIR), Size-exclusion high-performance liquid chromatography (SE-HPLC) and UV-spectroscopy (Mæhre *et al.*, 2018). All of these methods have their advantages and limitations, and most of the more recent techniques are correlated to the Kjeldahl method, which involves sample digestion in the presence of strong acid for nitrogen release and quantification

using a titration method (Mariotti et al., 2008). The protein content is then calculated by multiplying the nitrogen concentration with a specific conversion factor of the wheat part used (Whole grain, flour, or bran) (Maclean et al., 2003). However, the accuracy of protein measurement of this method is still debatable (Mariotti et al., 2008). The SE-HPLC method is considered a more reliable techniques for measuring protein quantity (Hayes, 2020). This method often involves the digestion of wheat flour by Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) and sodium phosphate buffer in two extraction steps to obtain SDS-extractable and SDSunextractable proteins (sonicated sample), with the amount and size distribution of proteins later analyzed using SE-HPLC system (Lan et al., 2023). From the chromatogram, large polymer protein (LPP), small polymer protein (SPP), large monomer protein (LMP), and small monomer protein (SMP) are calculated separately for both SDS-extractable and SDSunextractable proteins according to the specified retention time (Lan et al., 2023). Total SDSextractable protein (TOTE) calculated from the sum of all SDS-extractable large and small polymers along with large and small monomers, correlates well with protein content as shown by several authors (Johansson et al., 1995; Johansson et al., 2013; Alvarez and Guzmán, 2018; Lan et al., 2023). TOTE demonstrates a strong correlation with alternative protein quantification techniques such as the Kjeldahl and Dumas methods, as evidenced by the research conducted by Lan et al. (2023). Likewise, the percentage of SDS-unextractable polymer protein in total polymer protein (%UPP) serves as a valuable metric for assessing gluten strength (Wrigley et al., 2006). This metric is derived by summing the quantities of SDSunextractable large and small polymer proteins and then dividing by the total sum of SDSunextractable large and small polymer proteins, as well as SDS-extractable large and small polymer proteins, and then multiplying by 100%. This parameter has been established as a significant gauge of gluten's cohesive strength, substantially influencing functional attributes and bread-making proficiency of wheat dough (Johansson et al., 2013; Lama et al., 2023).

6.3 Wheat Amino Acid Composition

Amino acids are fundamental components of proteins and serve as the building blocks for neurotransmitters and hormones (Dietzen, 2018). Each amino acid is an organic compound containing an amino (-NH2) and a carboxylic acid (-COOH) functional groups. Proteins consist of chains of alpha-amino acids, distinguished by the separation of amino and carboxylic acid groups (side chain R-group) by a single carbon atom, often chiral, which impart unique properties to each amino acid. The further arrangement of amino acids within a protein chain

and their interactions with the environment determine the protein's distinctiveness and complexity (Zeece, 2020).

Approximately 20,000 genes encode about 100,000 distinct proteins in the human body (Lopez and Mohiuddin, 2024). Despite the existence of hundreds of natural amino acids, only about 20 are essential for producing proteins in humans and most other life forms. These amino acids are primarily L-isomers, with exceptions such as glycine, which lacks a chiral center, and cysteine, which has an S-absolute configuration due to its sulfur-containing R-group. Selenocysteine and pyrrolysine have been reported with functional significance as the 21st and 22nd amino acids, respectively, by recent studies, but they do not apply to human protein synthesis (Zhang and Gladyshev, 2007). These 22 amino acids, upon translation, can undergo post-translational modifications, further enhancing protein diversity. The production of neurotransmitters, hormones, muscle development, and other cellular processes in the human body requires a specific quantity of amino acids (Lopez and Mohiuddin, 2024).

After ingestion, dietary are broken down into amino acids, which then assist in food digestion, tissue growth and repair, energy provision, and other bodily functions. Several metabolic pathways involve amino acids within human cells. Amino acids are classified into three groups (Table 2) based on their necessity for growth, nitrogen balance and how they are absorbed into the body. The first group consist of non-essential amino acids, which are synthesized in the body from metabolic intermediates (Wu *et al.*, 2013). The second group includes essential amino acids, which cannot be synthesized by the body and must be obtained from food (Lopez and Mohiuddin, 2024). Conditional amino acids make up the last group and these are considered conditionally essential due to the inability of the body to produce them in adequate amounts during periods of physiological stress, such as growth illness, stress, injury or gestation (Grimble, 1993).

These essential amino acids are available from complete proteins, primarily sourced from animal products except for soybeans, which are a notable plant-based source. Incomplete proteins, often plant-based, also provide these essential amino acids. Wheat protein concentration and amino acid composition are critical factors influencing its processing into various food products (Johansson and Svensson, 1998; Siddiqi *et al.*, 2020; Shewry, 2023).

Amino Acid	Necessity from Food	WHO adult intake (g/100 g protein)	Sufficient availability in wheat
Alanine Non-essential		-	Yes
Asparagine	Non-essential	-	Yes
Aspartic acid	Non-essential	-	Yes
Glutamic acid	Non-essential	-	Yes
Lysine	Essential	4.5	Limited
Isoleucine	Essential	3.0	Yes
Leucine	Essential	5.9	Yes
Phenylalanine	Essential	3.8	Yes
Phytophan	Essential	0.6	Yes
Histine	Essential	1.5	Yes
Threonine	Essential	2.3	Limited
Methionine	Essential	1.6	Limited
Valine	Essential	3.9	Yes
A	Non-		Yes
Arginne	essential/Conditional	-	
Cysteine	Non-		Yes
Cysteme	essential/Conditional	-	
Clutomino	Non-		Yes
Glutamine	essential/Conditional	-	
т ·	Non-		Yes
Tyrosine	essential/Conditional	-	
Glycine	Non-		Yes
	essential/Conditional	-	
Droline	Non-		Yes
TIOIIIC	essential/Conditional	-	
Sarina	Non-		Yes
Serine	essential/Conditional	-	

Table 2: List of important amino acids and minimum recommended adult intake (RAI) of essential amino acid (g/100 g protein) from protein (% $N \times 5.7$) according to WHO/FAO/UNU Expert Consultation (2002, Geneva, Switzerland).

Wheat is rich in most of the essential amino acid when compared to the recommended adult intake, except for lysine, which is present in limiting amounts, with this disparity being more pronounced in white flour compared to wholemeal flour (Tkachuk, 1966; Simmonds, 1962; McDermott and Pace, 1957; Shoup *et al.*, 1966.). The starchy endosperm, from which white flour is derived, contains a significant amount of gluten protein that is specific to it. This gluten protein, which constitutes approximately 80 % of wheat protein, is limited in lysine but boasts a substantial abundance of proline and glutamine (Shewry and Hey, 2015a).

6.4 Wheat Mineral Composition

Staple crops like cereals need to be improved nutritionally, as public concern has increased in recent years regarding the daily diet's nutrient and health value (Hefferon, 2015). This is unsurprising, as micronutrient deficiency drastically affects human health globally, with a call to address this by incorporation of a dense quantity of essential nutrients into staple diet (Johansson et al., 2020b; Bansode and Kumar, 2015; Gupta et al., 2021). Wheat is an important cereal source of minerals and other nutrients in daily human diet (Welch and Graham, 1999; Hussain et al., 2010). Wheat contributes approximately 15%, 11%, 13% and 14% of Fe, Zn, Mg and Cu, respectively, from bread alone (Henderson et al., 2003). Until recently, wheat improvement focused on yield and disease resistance, but now the focus is shifting toward breeding for nutritional qualities alongside with the aforementioned traits (Welch and Graham, 1999; Morris and Sands, 2006). The condition of having less than adequate levels of essential minerals in human daily diet is known as malnutrition, which can lead to hidden hunger (Bansode and Kumar, 2015). Hidden hunger, recognized as a significant contributor to diseases and infections on a global scale, persists extensively in developing nations and also affects developed countries (Puntis, 2009; Kiran et al., 2022). Among the essential minerals required in the human diet, Fe and Zn are the most critical, affecting over 2 billion people worldwide, most of whom are women and children (Gupta et al., 2021). Lack of Fe causes anaemia, impaired cognition and fatigue, while Zn deficiency results in stunted growth, cell damage, and increased susceptibility to infections (Cakmak et al., 2004). Children aged 0 to 24 months, as well as pregnant and lactating women, are most affected (Gupta et al., 2021). The increasing number of people adopting vegetarian diets, especially in developed countries, may exacerbate hidden hunger, as meat is a primary source of these minerals. Generally, hidden hunger not only affects general health but also has economic implication, as an unhealthy population may not be optimally productive (Welch and Graham, 1999). Among the strategies to mitigate hidden hunger is food fortification (Bouis and Welch, 2010), which involves supplementing grains

with essential nutrients (Borrill et al., 2014). However, this strategy has limitations, including limited availability to rural dwellers and the significant cost implications over time. Another strategy is improving existing cultivars through the use of wild relatives of the crop, which are rich in these micronutrients, a process known as biofortification (Aigul et al., 2019). This approach can be economical, sustainable and more accessible to everyone. To optimize biofortification strategies, it is essential to understand the genetic mechanisms that control iron Fe and zinc Zn accumulation in wheat grains. By leveraging genetic tools such as Genome-Wide Association Studies (GWAS) and Quantitative Trait Locus (QTL) mapping, researchers can identify specific genes and loci that contribute to the accumulation of these essential micronutrients. Recent genetic studies on wheat have identified key QTLs and genes responsible for the accumulation of Zn and Fe, critical for biofortification efforts. For Zn, a significant QTL on chromosome 6D plays a major role in grain Zn concentration, with additional QTLs mapped on chromosomes 1A, 3A, 4A, 5B, and 7A. The gene TraesCS6D01G234600 has been linked to Zn translocation (Roy et al., 2022; Ma et al., 2023). For Fe, several QTLs, particularly on chromosome 4B, regulate Fe uptake, overlapping with Zn QTLs. Other important loci for Fe are located on chromosomes 3A, 2B, and 5A (Harrington et al., 2023). Chromosome 4B is a hotspot for both Zn and Fe accumulation, suggesting shared genetic pathways (Crespo-Herrera et al., 2016). This knowledge can then be used to develop wheat varieties that are richer in Fe and Zn, addressing nutritional deficiencies in populations that rely heavily on wheat as a staple.

6.5 Dietary Fiber in Wheat

Adequate level of dietary fiber in daily human diet are known to have a positive impact on human health (Lovegrove *et al.*, 2020). Dietary fibers consist of carbohydrates that resist digestion and absorption in the small intestine, instead traveling intact to the colon, where they undergo either complete or partial bacterial fermentation (Ibba *et al.*, 2021). Regular intake of dietary fibre has been linked to lower risk of cardiovascular disease, diabetes, obesity, and colorectal cancer. It also supports colon health by improving digestion, regulating blood sugar levels and intestinal movement (Barber *et al.*, 2020). Given its widespread consumption as a staple cereal, wheat plays a significant role in providing dietary fibre to human diets (Lovegrove *et al.*, 2020). However, it is worth noting that wheat is mainly consumed as white flour containing 2-3 % dry weight of fibre. In contrast, health-promoting components, such as dietary fiber, are primarily concentrated in the bran of a whole grains, which contain 11-15% dry weight of fibre (Gebruers *et al.*, 2008; Andersson *et al.*, 2013). This preference for refined products

contributes to increased obesity and chronic diseases. The key components of dietary fibre in wheat are arabinoxylan (AX), β -glucan, cellulose, and lignin, which are constituent of nonstarch polysaccharides and non-polysaccharide compound found mainly in the cell wall (Gebruers et al., 2008). Arabinoxylans (AX) constitute the major portion of dietary fiber (DF) within wheat grain, mainly concentrated in the bran, where they make up 13–22% of its dry weight (Ibba et al., 2021). Improving wheat cultivars with elevated arabinoxylan (AX) content could prove to be an effective strategy for enhancing daily dietary fiber (DF) intake. While tocols, sterols, and arabinoxylan fiber exhibit high heritability (Shewry et al., 2010), researchers have identified significant genomic regions for arabinoxylan (AX) on chromosomes 1A, 1B, 2B, 3B, 5A, 5B, 7A, and 7B (Lovegrove et al., 2020). The identification of these genomic regions can facilitate targeted breeding programs aimed at increasing fiber content in wheat. The recommended daily intake of dietary fiber for adults ranges from 30 to 35 grams for men and 25 to 32 grams for women (Burley et al., 2017). A recent study reviewed dietary fibre intake in European countries, finding that adults typically consume 18 to 24 grams per day for men and 16 to 20 grams per day for women, indicating a significant gap between recommended and actual intake (Barber et al., 2020).

7. Wheat Phytochemicals

Wheat, an essential cereal in the human diet, comprises three main components: germ, starchy endosperm, and bran (consisting of pericarp, testa, hyaline, and aleurone layers) accounting for approximately 2–3%, 81–84%, and 14–16% of the grain weight, respectively (Tian *et al.*, 2022). Whole grains are abundant sources of various health-prompting compounds, including dietary fibre, vitamins and phytochemicals (Onipe *et al.*, 2015). Phytochemicals, biologically active compounds of plant origin, offer significant health benefits beyond basic nutrition and may reduce the risk of chronic diseases (Okarter *et al.*, 2010). The primary phytochemical groups found in whole grains include polyphenols, carotenoids, flavonoids, vitamin E compounds, β-glucan, inulin, and curcumin (Liu, 2007). While over 5,000 individual phytochemicals have been identified in fruits, vegetables, and grains, many remain undiscovered, necessitating further research to fully elucidate the health-promoting effects of phytochemicals in whole-grain foods (Liu, 2004). Epidemiological studies have linked the consumption of whole grain products to a reduced risk of chronic diseases such as obesity, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), and cancer (Okarter *et al.*, 2010).

Despite the potential health benefits, phytochemicals in grains have received less attention compared to those in fruits and vegetables, partly due to the lower concentration of antioxidant capacity reported in earlier studies (Liu, 2004). This discrepancy may be attributed to limitation in extraction methods, primarily aqueous solutions of methanol, ethanol, and acetone, which predominantly extract free phenolic compounds, overlooking the bound phenolics, which constitute approximately 75% of the total (Adom and Liu, 2002). Recent advancements in extraction techniques, such as high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), have revealed a more comprehensive profile of phytochemicals in whole grains, indicating their richness beyond previous estimations (Kool et al., 2011). The underestimation of phytochemicals in whole wheat grains may have obscured their potential as valuable sources of health-promoting compounds, comparable to those in fruits and vegetables (Adom and Liu, 2002). The bran and germ of whole wheat are concentrated sources of bioactive compounds and may impart greater health benefits when consumed as part of a diet, thus helping to reduce the risk of chronic diseases (Adom et al., 2003). Phytochemicals in whole grains are distributed as free, solubleconjugated, and bound forms, with a significant portion bound to cell wall materials (Menga et al., 2023). These bound phytochemicals, resistant to digestion in the upper gastrointestinal tract, may undergo colonic fermentation, releasing their beneficial effects locally and systemically (Liu, 2007).

The cumulative and synergistic effects of various bioactive components present in whole grain foods, some unique to them, may confer greater health benefits than isolated compounds (Liu, 2004). The synthesis and accumulation of phytochemicals in wheat are influenced by genotype (Shewry and Hey, 2015), the growing environment (Shewry *et al.*, 2010), and their interaction (Lu *et al.*, 2015). Further research into these factors is vital for enhancing the phytochemical content of wheat, thereby promoting its potential health benefits. Recognizing the growing consumer demand for healthy food options, wheat breeders and producers are increasingly considering phytochemical content as a quality parameter alongside conventional end-use properties (Shewry *et al.*, 2012a), in which wild relatives of wheat could be a potential foundation for such variation (Shewry and Ward, 2012b).

7.1 Polyphenols in Wheat

The quantity and composition of polyphenols in wheat products are crucial for health and wellbeing due to their antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties (Kiani *et al.*, 2021). Polyphenols are a diverse group of phytochemicals that share a common chemical structure characterized by an aromatic ring with one or more hydroxyl substituents (Ayad and Akkal, 2019). These compounds can be categorized into several classes, with the principal groups encompassing flavonoids, phenolic acids, tannins, stilbenes, alkylresorcinols and lignans (Shewry and Ward, 2012b; Luna-Guevara et al., 2018). Phenolic acids are the most abundant polyphenol in wheat and include ferulic acid, vanillic acid, caffeic acid, syringic acid, and pcoumaric acid (Buczek et al., 2023). Most phenolic acids in wheat are bound to cell wall components, accounting more than 90% of their total content, with ferulic acid being the predominant form (Sosulski et al., 1982). Ferulic acid is especially abundant in the aleurone, pericarp, and embryo cell walls of various grains and is present in trace amounts in the starchy endosperm (Zhang et al., 2023). It comprises 70-90% of the total polyphenol content in wheat, with derivatives such as dihydroferulic, sinapic, caffeic, vanillic, syringic, p-coumaric, and phydroxybenzoic acid also detected, primarily in the bran and occurring in both free and bound forms (Bresciani et al., 2016). Among phenolic acids, diferulic acids (DFAs) are of particular interest due to their ability to form cross-links between polysaccharide chains, thereby influencing the structural integrity of cell walls. Diferulic acids include isomers such as 8-8 FA, 8-5 DFA, 5-5 DFA, 8-O-4' DFA, and 8-5 benzofuran DFA, existing in monomeric and oligomeric forms. DFAs, particularly dimers of ferulic acid, can be extracted alongside other phenolic acids, with most present in insoluble fractions (Parker et al., 2005; khosravi et al., 2020). Flavonoids, is another major polyphenol group in wheat, especially prominent in colored cultivars and include apigenin, chrysoeriol, kaempferol, quercetin, and luteolin, predominantly found in conjugated forms with various sugars (Dinelli et al., 2011). Anthocyanins, specific flavonoid compounds present in colored wheat cultivars, include cyanidin, malvidin, petunidin, and delphinidin, occurring mainly in their sugar derivatives, albeit in lower concentrations compared to phenolic acids (Liu et al., 2010). These pigments provide color and also contribute to the antioxidant capacity of wheat products. Polyphenols contribute to the color, taste, and nutritional value of wheat and have been studied for their potential health benefits, including anti-inflammatory, anticancer and antioxidant properties.

7.1.1 Antioxidants in Wheat

Polyphenols are a diverse group of phytochemicals renowned for their potent antioxidant properties, largely due to their ability to donate electrons and neutralize free radicals. These phenolic compounds, abundant in whole grains, play a significant role in combating oxidative stress, with high phenolic content strongly correlated with increased antioxidant potential (Khosravi *et al.*, 2020). Antioxidants, which include both naturally occurring and synthetic compounds such as vitamins and minerals, are crucial in neutralizing free radicals within the body (Mamta *et al.*, 2014). Their essential role extends to reducing the risk of chronic conditions

such as cancer, coronary artery disease, muscular degeneration, and serious eye diseases, while simultaneously enhancing immune function (Akond et al., 2010). Polyphenols, as part of these antioxidant systems, offer numerous health benefits. They help reduce the risk of diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, and obesity and they serve as anti-mutagenic, anti-allergenic, antiinflammatory, antimicrobial, and anti-apoptosis agents (Balasundram et al., 2006). For instance, polyphenols exhibit antioxidant activities by inhibiting oxidase enzymes, protecting antioxidant enzymes, reducing free radical generation, and inactivating free radicals. These mechanisms make polyphenols effective antibacterial, anticancer, and anti-inflammatory agents (Kardum et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2017). Polyphenols are synthesized in plants in response to physiological and oxidative stresses, serving protective roles against pathogen attacks, UV radiation, and physical damage (Al-Rawahi et al., 2013). The antioxidant activity of whole grain wheat varies among different species and genotypes, emphasizing the potential to exploit genetic variation to enhance the polyphenol content in wheat, thereby promoting human health benefits (Shewry and Hey, 2015b). Efforts to breed wheat varieties with higher antioxidant capacities could lead to healthier dietary options and align with consumer demand for nutrient-rich foods.



Figure 4: Phytochemicals composition in wholegrain wheat (Adapted from Ammar et al., 2023 and Tian et al., 2022).

8. Different Genetic Origin of Wheat

8.1 Wheat-Alien Introgression Lines

Common wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L., 2n = 6x = 42, AABBDD) originated from a series of hybridizations involving Triticum urartu, which contributes the AA genome, a species believed to be Aegilops speltoides that provides the BB genome and Aegilops tauschii, which carries the DD genome (Sarka and Stebbins 1956; Dvořák et al., 1993; Matsuoka, 2011; Levy and Feldman, 2022). Common wheat belongs to the Poaceae (grass family), which includes important cereals such as durum wheat, barley, and rye, and falls under the tribe Triticeae. This tribe encompasses over 500 wild and cultivated species across several genera, including Aegilops, Leymus, Secale, Triticum, Agropyron, and Thinopyrum (Rey et al., 2015). Members of this tribe are recognized for their beneficial agronomic characters which includes resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses, enhanced nutritional profile, increased yield, wide environmental adaptation, reduced lodging, and earliness (Bedő and Láng, 2015; Rahmatov et al., 2016; Johansson et al., 2020b). Species carrying these traits have been hybridized with common wheat, followed by the subsequent identification and mapping of the genes associated with the traits of interest to specific loci (Rabinovich, 1998). Wheat-alien introgression, which involves transferring chromosome segments from wild wheat relatives into cultivated wheat, has been a valuable tool in wheat breeding programs by introducing new genetic variability into the common wheat gene pool (Molnar-Lang et al., 2016; Rahmatov, 2016b; Johansson et al., 2020b). This is complex and time-consuming process that requires careful planning, precise breeding, and thorough selection to incorporate new traits while maintaining desirable characteristics. Additional breeding and selection are often necessary to ensure stable and consistent trait expression across generations.

Homologous chromosome pairing in wheat, particularly with chromosomes from the tertiary gene pool, is controlled by the pairing homoeologous loci, Ph1 and Ph2, located on chromosomes 5BL and 3DS, respectively (Gill *et al.*, 1993; Sutton *et al.*, 2003). The Ph1 locus plays a dominant role during meiosis, ensuring that only true homologous chromosomes pair and preventing recombination between homoeologous chromosomes (Rawale *et al.*, 2019). This mechanism is essential for maintaining the genomic stability of hexaploid wheat (Triticum aestivum), which has genomes from three ancestral species (AA, BB, and DD). The deletion of the Ph1 locus, as seen in the ph1b mutation in hexaploid wheat and ph1c mutation in tetraploid wheat, reduces the strict control over chromosome pairing, facilitating homoeologous recombination and genetic material transfer between wheat and other species (Giorgi and

Barbera 1981; Sears 1977). This process provides valuable opportunities for wheat breeding by introducing desirable traits, such as disease resistance, drought tolerance, and improved quality, from the tertiary gene pool into the wheat genome (Yazdani *et al.*, 2023; Lan *et al.*, 2023).

Alien gene introgressions are well-known for their notable impact on disease resistance, though they typically display limited influence on product quality, except for the 1BL.1RS translocation (Kaur *et al.*, 2022). While this translocation is known to have a negative effect on baking quality, it has proven extremely useful in combating several strains of wheat rust and powdery mildew diseases. However, the recent shift in plant breeding focus towards quality traits, driven by health and environmental concerns, underscores the need for proactive pursuit of attributes aligned with these priorities. Recent research has revealed increased levels of iron (Fe) and zinc (Zn) in wheat resulting from the incorporation of genes from *Leymus racemosus* and *Leymus mollis*, and additional reports indicate increased levels of these minerals alongside reduced cadmium content through introgressions from 1R, 2R, 5R, and *Leymus spp*. Furthermore, wheat-*Leymus* hybrids have shown promising enhancements in protein content and gluten strength, suggesting potential improvements in bread-making attributes. The gene complex *SR31/Yr9/Lr26/Pm9* has notably contributed to agricultural productivity, and recent gene introductions such as *Sr59*, *Pm56*, and *Yr83* offer further prospects for enhanced agricultural performance through targeted gene transfer approaches.

Successful introgression has been reported for rye (*Secale cereale*), *Thinopyrum junceiforme*, *leymus racemosus* and *leymus mollis* (Merker and Rogalska, 1984; Merker and Lantai, 1997; Ellneskog-Staam and Merker, 2002; Kole, 2011) with 1BL/1RS wheat-rye translocation proving to be extremely useful in the fight against several strains of wheat rust and powdery mildew diseases. Introgressed chromosome segments from rye into wheat genome such as 1AL/1RS (from Amigo), 1BL.1RS, 1DL.1RS, 2BL.2RS, 3BL.3RS, 5AL.5RS, 1R + 2R, 1R + 3R, 5R + 4R + 7R AND 1R + 6R + 4R + 7R, and 1B(R) substitutions have been documented to be useful against several insects and different strains of stem, stripe and leaf rusts wheat pathogens (Rabinovich, 1998; Rahmatov *et al.*, 2016; Johansson *et al.*, 2020b).

8.2 Landraces, Old and Ancient Wheat

The importance of landraces in safeguarding genetic diversity is rooted in their inherent competitiveness and capacity to thrive in distinct environments, a trait developed from numerous cycles of human-driven evolution, and supported by a diverse genetic foundation (Gadaleta *et al.*, 2023). Emerging as dynamic populations, landraces were cultivated during the evolutionary progression of crops through human selection in recently inhabited areas

following the onset of agriculture until the late 19th century. This period saw the emergence of inbred lines and cultivars in the early 20th century, making a transition away from genetically heterogeneous collections of plants. (Peleg et al., 2011). Due to their extensive genetic diversity, landraces manifest substantial allelic variability associated with diverse traits including end-use functionality and nutritional quality, including micronutrient content (Zn and Fe), fatty acid profiles, phytochemicals, vitamins, amino acid, protein composition, baking properties, sensory attributes, as well as factors such as disease resistance, and adaptability (Johansson et al., 2020b, 2021; Sönmez et al., 2023). Despite the contention that the yield potential of landraces is considered a notable limitation, they remain a valuable resource for reintroducing lost alleles into modern cultivars. This process serves to enhance the functional and nutritional potential of these cultivars. Wheat cultivars grown in Sweden from 1900 to 1960 are classified as "old cultivars" according to research by Hussain et al., in 2010 and Johansson et al., in 2021. These cultivars have been notably recognised as a distinct reservoir of essential minerals within the human dietary context, as documented by Hussain et al., in 2010. Furthermore, they represent a potential reservoir for achieving elevated and consistent gluten strength, as highlighted by Lan et al., in 2023. Additionally, these cultivars exhibit adaptability to resource-constrained environments, primarily attributed to their efficient nitrogen utilization mechanisms, as elucidated by Pourazari et al., (2015). These exceptional attributes, despite their well-documented yield reduction compared to modern cultivars as reported by Pourazari et al. (2015), offer valuable prospects for harnessing these distinctive features in the strategic development of novel cultivars designed to enhance end-use qualities.

Heritage crops bear significant agricultural importance, rooted in their historical and cultural significance (Shewry and Hey, 2015b). These plants harbour extensive genetic diversity, offering potential contributions to human nutrition, crop enhancement, and resilience against environmental challenges, beyond their cultural value. Heritage crops embody a blend of biodiversity, culture, and sustainability, yielding insights into a resilient agricultural approach that bridges the past with the present (Cabas-Lühmann *et al.*, 2023). Integrating heritage crops into contemporary food systems through strategic plant breeding holds promise for addressing current challenges.

Certain wild and primitive wheat cultivars, including *Triticum monococum*, *Triticum dicoccon*, *Triticum dicoccoides*, and *Aegilops speltoides*, exhibit promise as genetic sources for essential micronutrients, surpassing cultivated wheat cultivars and advanced breeding lines (Cakmak *et al.*, 1999, 2000). Literature consistently reports elevated levels of the carotenoid lutein (resulting in a yellow colour) in einkorn, emmer, and Khorasan (Kamut) wheat, in contrast to

bread wheat, often chosen for its white appearance (Shewry and Hey, 2015b). Additionally, discernible differences emerge between ancient crops and modern cultivars concerning phenolic acids, other phytochemical compounds, polar metabolites, and dietary fibres (Shewry *et al.*, 2015b, 2017).

9. Wheat Growing Conditions in Sweden

9.1 Organic Farming and Its Importance

To meet one of the United Nations' goals of responsible consumption (SDG 12), consumers' desires for nourishing and delicious food options that contribute to overall well-being and safeguard against chronic ailments need to be satisfied, which could change attitudes toward food wastage, leading to its reduction (Johansson et al., 2014). However, this must be accompanied by responsible and sustainable production, promoting biodiversity and positively impacting the environment. The conventional farming system, characterized by its extensive reliance on synthetic chemicals (fertilizers and pesticides) that gained prominence post World War II (1939–1945), has been identified as having detrimental effects on agricultural sustainability (Tudi et al., 2021). Remarkably, while this system has historically delivered high yields, it has also resulted in enduring negative consequences for human health, animal welfare, biodiversity, and environmental integrity (Scherer et al., 2018; Agovino et al., 2019). Numerous reports have highlighted organic farming as a potential solution to these challenges (Hussain et al., 2012a; Tuomisto et al., 2012; Reganold and Wachter, 2016; Meemken and Qaim, 2018; Pekala, 2020), and it also offers the prospect of supplying nutritious food to our growing global population (Foley et al., 2011). According to the International Federation of Organic Agriculture's (IFOAM) definition, organic agriculture, which includes practices like organic farming, is a production system that puts the health of soils, ecosystems, and people first. It depends on ecological processes, biodiversity, and local adaptations rather than the use of inputs with harmful effects. Organic agriculture integrates tradition, innovation, and scientific knowledge to enhance the overall environment and foster equitable relationships, aiming to improve the quality of life for all involved (IFOAM, 2008). The principles of organic agriculture, founded on the values of health, ecology, fairness, and care, have driven the growing global demand for organic food products (Willer, 2010; Gamage et al., 2023). This growth in demand has resulted in a worldwide expansion of organic production areas, notably in Europe, where Sweden stands out as one of the leading countries (Hussain et al., 2012a; Statistics Sweden, 2021). The European Union aims to allocate at least 25% of agricultural land to organic production by 2030 through initiatives like the EU Green Deal and Farm to Fork strategies, while Sweden has set a more ambitious target of 30% (European Commission, 2020; Moschitz *et al.*, 2021; Statistics Sweden, 2021). Notably, Sweden experienced an annual growth rate of 8% in organic food demand between 2015 and 2018, and the Green Public Procurement (GPP) Act has set a goal of sourcing 60% of all food purchased by the public sector from organic sources by 2030 (Swedish Government, 2017; EkoWeb, 2020). The cultivation of nutritionally enriched and tasty wheat cultivars, integral to Swedish culture as the most produced and consumed cereal crop, can be effectively advanced through organic farming practices, offering a scientific approach to promote both end-use qualities and well-being.

9.2 Heavy Metals

Heavy metals, defined as metallic elements with an atomic weight greater than 40.04 atomic mass units, can act as toxic contaminants impacting human health (Agency for toxic substances and disease registry (ATSDR), Castro-Gonzalez and Mendez-Armenta, 2008). These metals enter the environment through both natural processes, such as weathering of the earth's crust, and human activities such as mining, industrial discharge, chemical fertilizers and pesticides and urban runoff (Martin and Griswold 2009; Jorhem *et al.*, 2013). Human exposure to heavy metals primarily occurs through the consumption of contaminated food and water, establishing a cyclic pathway involving industry, atmosphere, soil, water, food, and humans (Ming-Ho, 2005; Morais *et al.*, 2012). To mitigate health risks, Commission Regulation (EU) 2021/1323 sets maximum allowable concentrations for heavy metals such as lead, mercury, cadmium, tin, and arsenic in food and feed (European Commission, 2021).

9.2.1 Cadmium Impact on Food Security Challenges in Sweden and Possible Solution

In Sweden, the concentrations of cadmium, a naturally occurring heavy metal in soil, fluctuate based on geographical and soil variations, entering the food chain through crop absorption and raising concerns (The Swedish National Chemicals Inspectorate, 1998; Edirisinghe and Jinadasa, 2019). Dietary exposure is influenced by the consumption of larger food quantities including wheat (European Food Safety Authority, 2012; Jorhem *et al.*, 2013). This metal, which persists in the body and accumulates in the kidneys, poses health risks such as cardiovascular diseases, osteoporosis, cancer, renal tubular dysfunction with prolonged exposure (Hallenbeck, 1984; Rafati-Rahimzadeh *et al.*, 2017). Plant breeding techniques can be employed to effectively decrease the absorption of cadmium, alongside reducing the activities that contribute to its accumulation (Grant *et al.*, 2008; Zaid *et al.*, 2018; Chen and

Wu, 2020). Cadmium although non-essential for plant growth, disrupts vital metabolic pathways by competing with essential elements such as Fe and Mn (Gao *et al.*, 2018), as well as Zn and Ca (Clemens and Ma, 2016), potentially causing health issues and imbalance within biological systems (European Food Safety Authority, 2012; Rafati-Rahimzadeh *et al.*, 2017; Rubio *et al.*, 2023). Identifying genes responsible for Cd accumulation is crucial for breeding wheat varieties with low Cd content. Several studies have reported genes linked to Cd uptake in wheat, including *TaHMA2* and *TpNRAMP5* (Wiebe *et al.*, 2010; Tan *et al.*, 2013). Additionally, 26 QTLs related to Cd stress have been identified, with two QTLs on chromosomes 4A and 5D specifically influencing Cd accumulation in roots (Ci *et al.*, 2012). In durum wheat, the *Cdu1* gene, located on chromosome arm 5BL, plays a major role in regulating Cd concentration in grains (Penner *et al.*, 1995; Knox *et al.*, 2009; Wiebe *et al.*, 2010). These findings provide valuable genetic targets for developing wheat varieties with reduced Cd accumulation, improving food safety and crop quality.



Figure 5: Causes and effects of Cadmium uptake in wheat grain

Cadmium thresholds for foodstuffs in the European Union (EU) are governed by specific regulations aimed at minimizing exposure to this toxic metal. The EU has set maximum permissible levels of cadmium in various food categories, with thresholds based on the type of crop or product. These thresholds are laid out in regulations such as EU 2023/915 and earlier ones like EU 488/2014 and EC 1881/2006.

Crop/Foodstuff	Sweden (Aligned with EU)	Sweden Cadmium Threshold (mg/kg)
Durum wheat (Triticum durum)	0.18	0.18
Wheat germ	0.2	0.2
Rice, quinoa, wheat bran and wheat gluten	0.15	0.15
Maize	0.1	0.1
Barley and rye	0.05	0.05
Oat	0.1	0.1
Citrus fruits, pome fruits, stone fruits, table olives, kiwi fruits, bananas, mangoes, papayas and pineapples	0.02	0.02
Berries and small fruits,	0.03	0.03
Raspberries	0.04	0.04
Root and tuber vegetables	0.1	0.1
Pine nuts	0.3	0.3
Radishes	0.02	0.02
Tropical roots and tubers, parsley roots, turnips	0.05	0.05
Onions	0.03	0.03
Garlic	0.05	0.05
Fruiting vegetables	0.02	0.02
Brassica vegetables	0.04	0.04
Spinaches and similar leaves, mustard seedlings and fresh herbs	0.2	0.2
Legume vegetables	0.02	0.02
Proteins from pulses	0.1	0.1
Rape seeds	0.15	0.15
Peanuts and soybeans	0.2	0.2
Linseeds and sunflower seeds	0.5	0.5

Table 3: Comparative table showing the maximum allowable cadmium levels (in mg/kg wet weight) for different crops in Sweden and the EU (Commission regulation, 2023).

10. Wheat Bread-Making

10.1 Bread-Making Quality

Wheat is primarily consumed as bread, which is a major source of food and nutrition including protein, starch, dietary fibres, phytochemicals, amino acid composition, minerals and vitamins in many households (Chikpah *et al.*, 2021). For bread-making, wheat flour is utilized due to its gluten-network, which imparts dough extensibility, strength, viscoelasticity and gas retention properties (Marchetti *et al.*, 2012; Bashir *et al.*, 2023). The compositional balance between

gliadin and glutenin, the two main protein fractions in gluten, plays a crucial role in determining the texture, structure, and appearance of bread (Barak *et al.*, 2013; Shewry, 2019). The HMW-GS subunit is critical for bread-making quality, with its concentration influencing bread volumes positively or negatively (Johansson and Svensson, 1995). In addition to gluten proteins, grain physical, chemical and nutritional characteristics, rheological properties of dough, falling number, and Zeleny sedimentation volume also influence bread-making quality (Poblaciones *et al.*, 2009; Al-Saleh and Brennan, 2012; Barak *et al.*, 2013). However, these characteristics vary depending on wheat genotypes and the environment in which wheat is cultivated (Carcea *et al.*, 2006; Shewry *et al.*, 2010; Hussain *et al.*, 2012; Bashir *et al.*, 2023).

10.2 Bread-Making Quality Testing

There are various methods for testing bread-making quality, but the most common are the Chopin alveograph, Mixograph, Amylograph, Farinograph, Consistograph, Mixolab, Texture Analysis, Falling Number Test and Extensograph (Song and Zheng, 2007; Marchetti *et al.*, 2012; Guzmán *et al.*, 2015; Cappelli *et al.*, 2020; Best *et al.*, 2023). These methods assist bakers and researchers in understanding the characteristics of flour and dough, enabling them to optimize formulations and processes for desired bread and baked product qualities. Each method provides specific insights into different aspects of dough rheology and behaviour.

11. Other Quality Test

11.2 Sensory Evaluation

Consumers seek both nutritional and energy benefits from food and derive pleasure based on sensory attributes during its consumption. The assessment of food quality relies significantly on sensory analysis, and its scientific underpinning is continually reinforced by growing understanding of human behaviour, together with advancements in sensory analytical methods (Haglund *et al.*, 1998). Nutritional qualities such as protein, starch, fiber content, minerals and biochemical compounds have been shown to affect different sensory attributes of wheat (Bustos *et al.*, 2011; Irakli *et al.*, 2015; Torbica *et al.*, 2019), with important attributes such as taste, colour, appearance, texture, and odour being crucial for evaluating the end-use quality of wheat flour, complementing its functionality and baking characteristics (Haglund *et al.*, 1998). Since both genotype and growing environment are known to influence the nutritional quality of wheat (Haglund *et al.*, 1998; Carcea *et al.*, 2006; Hussain *et al.*, 2012b, 2013; Johansson *et al.*, 2020a), exploring the impact of these factors on the sensory characteristics of wheat products is a

compelling area of study. For food to be accepted and incorporated into the diet, it should not only be sustainable and nutritious but also possess attractive and appealing qualities to consumers. Assessment of sensory attributes is carried out through the use of human senses with a particular objective in mind.

11.2.2 Sensory Evaluation Techniques

There are different methods for analyzing sensory attributes (Gillette, 1990), but the commonly used ones are Difference Testing (Ennis *et al.*, 2014), Affective Testing (Gillette, 1990) and Descriptive analysis (Murray *et al.*, 2001; Lawless and Heymann, 2010b) with the choice of techniques depending on the objective of the study. While Difference Testing is used to determine if significant sensory differences exist between samples (Amerine *et al.*, 2013), Affective Testing assesses consumers' liking or acceptance of one sample over another (Lawless and Heymann, 2010a). In contrast, Descriptive Analysis is among the most comprehensive techniques, involving the identification and description of sensory attributes both qualitatively (taste, colour, appearance, texture, aroma) and quantitatively (level of intensity in each qualitative components using line scale) by specially selected and trained panel of assessors (Meilgaard *et al.*, 1999; Murray *et al.*, 2001).

11.2.3 Descriptive Analytical Analysis Assessment

For this technique, a minimum of six assessors are selected based on their sensory skills and awareness. Using a line scale from 1 to 100, and following ISO standard, the assessor panel is trained on a selection of the samples to reach a consensus on the sensory attributes to be used for evaluation (Guld *et al.*, 2020). The quantitatively analysed sensory attributes can be further subjected to statistical analysis to identify significant differences between the samples.

12. Molecular Markers

Molecular markers are DNA fragments with genetic linkage to a target gene and are inherited from one generation to another (Nadeem *et al.*, 2018). Molecular markers serve as landmarks to the gene of interest and, like genes, occupy a particular region on the chromosome (Kumar *et al.*, 2009). Markers can be found abundantly throughout the genome, have wide applications in science, and have been used to improve several crops (Kumar, 2009). Genetic markers are used to track variations in DNA segments within and between species and enable the creation of novel sources of genetic variations by introducing traits of interest from wild relatives into modern cultivars (Rahmatov *et al.*, 2016b). Due to technological advancements, molecular

markers have been developed from non-PCR based to PCR-based methods (Bhagyawant, 2016), with newer techniques overcoming the limitation of the previous one. Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (RFLP) marker is a DNA-based technique used in genetic linkage map construction, but it has limitations including complex hybridization, exposure to radioactive compounds, high cost, labour intensive, and a limited number of hybridization probes (Bernatzky and Tanksley, 1986; Liu, 2007). However, PCR-based markers, including Random Amplification of Polymorphic DNA (RAPD) (Williams et al., 1990), Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphisms (AFLP) (Vos et al., 1995), Cleaved Amplified Polymorphic Sequences (CAPS) (Shavrukov, 2016), Sequence Characterized Amplified Region (SCAR) (Liu et al., 1999); Simple Sequence Repeats (SSR) (Song et al., 2001); Direct Amplification of Length Polymorphisms (DALPs) (Langar et al., 2003) and Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) (Shavrukov, 2016) all have a relative advantages over non-PCR based molecular markers (Akbari et al., 2006; Bhatia and Bajwa, 2022). An ideal molecular marker should meet requirements such as high polymorphism, codominance in expression, even genome-wide distribution, distinct allelic features, no pleiotropic effect, multiplex capability, costeffectiveness in use and analysis, easy detection, high availability, high reproducibility, genome-specific and no negative impact on phenotype (Kumar et al., 2009; Andersen, 2013).

12.1 High-throughput genotyping in wheat

DNA-based molecular markers are essential for identifying genome sequence differences between organisms, and their early development has greatly advanced plant breeding by providing improved tools and techniques that enable breeders to select traits more effectively for better crop varieties (Kondić-Špika *et al.*, 2023). The evolution of SNP chips has marked a transformative shift in genetic research, beginning with the 9k chip, which provided initial genetic insights. This progressed to the 35k, 90k, 660k and 820k chips in wheat, which offer much higher resolution and a broader range of genetic markers, enhancing the ability to conduct detailed genetic analyses and facilitate targeted breeding MAS (Rasheed *et al.*, 2017; Thudi *et al.*, 2021). Genotyping by sequencing (GBS is a high multiplexed method to obtain genomewide variability information for a population (Crossa *et al.*, 2013; Morris *et al.*, 2013; Spindel *et al.*, 2015). It involves determining the nucleic acid sequence within a DNA molecule. The sequence of nucleotides (A, T, C, and G) encodes the biological information cells use to develop and perform their functions. Unraveling the DNA sequence is essential to understanding the role of genes and the overall genome. GBS is a low-cost, time-saving, and labor-effective way of capturing SNPs for genetic analysis and genotyping using the next generation sequencing

(NGS) platforms (Beissinger et al., 2013; Bhatia et al., 2018). It has advantages over regular markers such as RFLP, RAPD, AFLP, and SSR (He et al., 2014). GBS is utilized in various applications, including quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping, molecular diversity, Genomewide-association study (GWAS), construction of high-density genome maps, haplotypes map, phylogenetics, identification of candidate genes, genetic linkage analysis, molecular marker discovery, and genomic selection/prediction (Romay et al., 2013; He et al., 2014; Spindel et al., 2015). The GBS procedure includes DNA isolation, quantification, and normalization from samples, followed by digestion with methylation-sensitive restriction enzymes, such as ApeKI (a rare cutter PSTl and frequent cutter Mspl) for wheat, with enzyme choices varying for other plant species to reduce genome complexity (Poland et al., 2012; Yazdani et al., 2023). ApeKI cuts DNA at specific 5-base pair sequences, targeting gene-rich regions to reduce genome complexity in GBS, which simplifies sequencing and variant identification (Elshire et al., 2011). This is followed by the litigation of adaptors (ADP) with barcodes to allow multiplex sequencing, forming a library panel (Elshire et al., 2011). Sequence analysis is conducted using an appropriate NGS platforms such as Illumina platforms, Ion Torrent, Beijing Genomic Institute-SEQ, MGI-SEQ and Oxford Nanopore (Poland et al., 2012; Pérez-De-Castro and Cañizares, 2017; Scheben and Edwards, 2018 and Meyer and Kirkness, 2019). These platforms generate high-throughput sequence data, which are then processed through bioinformatics pipelines to identify genetic variations by aligning sequence reads to a reference genome. The development and availability of reference genomes have been pivotal for such bioinformatics analysis, allowing for the accurate detection and identification of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) for marker-assisted selection in breeding programs (Bentley et al., 2008). One of the most significant milestones in wheat genetics was sequencing the 'Chinese Spring' wheat genome, which provided a comprehensive reference genome and laid the foundation for more advanced genetic studies (Han et al., 2015; Hao et al., 2020). This advancement enabled the use of Whole Genome Sequencing (WGS) and Whole Genome Resequencing (WGR) techniques, which have expanded our understanding of wheat genetics and facilitated the identification of genomic regions associated with important traits (Can et al., 2019; Sahu et al., 2020). Building on this foundation, several studies have employed GBS to investigate various research objectives in wheat, such as adaptability and yield traits (Akram et al., 2021), generating a dense linkage map and mapping the high-density three-pistil gene (Pis1) (Yang et al., 2017), and creating a high-density genetic map for milling and the homologous transformation sterility gene (hts) (Yang et al., 2018). Additional research includes identifying GBS tags associated with milling performance and end-use quality traits (Boehm et al., 2017) and searching for genetic variants underlying baking quality in 462 hard winter wheat lines (Zhang-Biehn *et al.*, 2021). These examples demonstrate how GBS, combined with advanced sequencing technologies and bioinformatics tools, has become essential for understanding wheat genetic architecture and accelerating marker-assisted breeding. Thus, it improves wheat breeding efficiency and facilitates the development of high-quality wheat varieties.

12.2 Genome-Wide Association Studies (GWAS)

In recent years, GWAS have become a powerful tool for detecting and mapping- genomic loci control traits of interest in crops (Yoosefzadeh-Najafabadi et al., 2022). This method has broad applications across many crop species, including wheat (Rathan et al., 2022; Mulugeta et al., 2023), sorghum (Enyew et al., 2022) rice (Spindel et al., 2016), oat (Newell et al., 2012), barley (Jabbari et al., 2018), millet (Jaiswal et al., 2019) and maize (Wu et al., 2022). GWAS involves several key steps: assembling and phenotyping of an association panel (Belzile and Torkamaneh, 2022), genotyping the population (Wang et al., 2014; Kang et al., 2020), conducting association analysis (Zhou et al., 2020), and identifying candidate genes (Rathan et al., 2022). This approach has successfully identified genomic regions associated with essential traits in wheat, such as yield (Li et al., 2019), disease resistance (Mihalyov et al., 2017), climate resilience (Mérida-García et al., 2020; Phuke et al., 2022), and quality attributes (Liu et al., 2017). The development of SNP arrays through high-throughput genotyping technologies have facilitated the way for widespread use of GWAS. Unlike bi-parental QTL mapping, GWAS requires significant marker coverage across the genome of interest and allows for the identification of multi-allelic variants associated with the traits of interest (Uffelmann et al., 2021). GWAS can significantly enhance our understanding of the genetic basis of heritable traits, enabling marker-assisted selection to improve traits in breeding programs (Spindel *et al.*, 2016). Several powerful tools are available for conducting GWAS, such as PLINK for fast statistical analysis, BOLT-LMM and SAIGE for mixed models and addressing population structure, FaST-LMM for efficient mixed model analysis, and GEMMA for mixed-model association with both quantitative and binary traits (Purcell et al., 2007; Lippert et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2012 and Bi et al., 2021). Additionally, R statistical tool has gained popularity for GWAS, particularly with the GAPIT (Genomic Association and Prediction Integrated Tool) package (Wang et al., 2022). Common GWAS models implemented in R include the General Linear Model (GLM), Mixed Linear Model (MLM), Compressed Mixed Linear Model (CMLM) and Multi Locus Mixed Model Approach (MLMM) (Pritchard et al., 2001; Yu et al., 2006 and Segura et al., 2012). Advanced models such as SUPER (Settlement of Mixed Linear Models Under Progressively Exclusive Relationship), FARMCPU (Fixed and Random Model Circulating Probability Unification), and BLINK (Bayesian-information and Linkagedisequilibrium Iteratively Nested Keyway) improve computational speed and statistical power, making them highly effective for large datasets (Huang *et al.*, 2019; Wang *et al.*, 2014 and Liu *et al.*, 2016).

12.3 Kompetitive Allele Specific PCR (KASP)

Two cost-effective methods for converting flanking SNP markers from array-based genotyping (GenFlexTM, GeneChipTM, Infinitum, BeadXpressTM, GoldenGateTM) and GBS into more specific assays are Semi-Thermal Asymmetric Reverse PCR (STARP) and KASP markers (Long et al., 2017; Semagn et al., 2014). KASP markers are generally preferred due to their higher throughput, enhanced accuracy, and robustness across diverse samples. Their costeffectiveness and compatibility with standard real-time PCR machines make them a practical choice for many genotyping projects (Long et al., 2017; Jagtap et al., 2020). KASP markers have become popular among cereal researchers and breeders, especially for validation and marker-assisted selection (Rasheed et al., 2016). This popularity is attributed to their ability to produce reliable and reproducible results across different genetic backgrounds, which is critical in breeding programs. KASP assays depend heavily on the quality and quantity of the DNA template, as these markers function through allele-specific oligo extension and fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) for signal generation. DNA can be extracted efficiently from leaves or seeds, making KASP markers versatile at various stages of plant development. Using KASP with other genotyping methods allows researchers to validate SNPs identified in highthroughput sequencing or array-based approaches, thus ensuring marker-assisted selection accuracy and reliability in crop breeding programs (Roncallo et al., 2019). This integration helps bridge the gap between high-throughput discovery platforms and practical breeding applications, providing a comprehensive and cost-effective approach to genetic analysis.

Acknowledgement

My gratitude goes to God for the gift of life. I am deeply thankful to SLU Grogrund for funding this project. I sincerely appreciate the invaluable contributions of my supervisors, Eva Johansson, Mahbubjon Rahmatov, Julia Darlison and Nikwan Shariatipour, your unwavering support has been immeasurable. Thank you. I also extend my heartfelt thanks to Elaine Ceresino for the support she provided me during her time at SLU as one of my supervisors. To every member of the Plant Product Quality Division, I am truly grateful for all the support you have

offered me since I joined the group. Special thanks to the staff and students at the Department of Plant Breeding for being such wonderful colleagues and friends. Lastly, I appreciate my wife for her unwavering support and my children for their patience and understanding during the many late nights I spent at work. Your love and encouragement have been my greatest strength.

References

- Adamović, M., Grubić, G., Milenković, I., Jovanović, R., Protić, R., Sretenović, L. and Stoićević, L. (1998). The biodegradation of wheat straw by Pleurotus ostreatus mushrooms and its use in cattle feeding. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 71(3):357-362. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-8401(97)00150-8
- Adom, K.K. and Liu, R.H. (2002). Antioxidant Activity of Grains. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 50 (21):6182–6187. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0205099
- Adom, K.K., Sorrells, M.E. and Liu, R.H. (2003). Phytochemical Profiles and Antioxidant Activity of Wheat Varieties. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51 (26): 7825–7834. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0304041
- Agovino, M., Casaccia, M., Ciommi, M., Ferrara, M. and Marchesano, K. (2019). Agriculture, climate change and sustainability: The case of EU-28. *Ecological Indicators*, 105: 525–543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.04.064
- Aigul, A., Timur, S., Ismail, C., Kenebay, K., Vladimur, C. and Alexey, M. (2019). Grain mineral composition of introgressive wheat-wild forms in breeding of spring wheat on the nutritional properties. *Научный журнал «Вестник НАН РК»*, (1):27–38
- Aisen, A. and Veiga, F.J. (2013). How does political instability affect economic growth?. *European Journal of Political Economy*, 29:151-167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpoleco.2012.11.001
- Akbari, M., Wenzl, P., Caig, V., Carling, J., Xia, L., Yang, S., Uszynski, G., Mohler, V., Lehmensiek, A., Kuchel, H., Hayden, M.J., Howes, N., Sharp, P., Vaughan, P., Rathmell, B., Huttner, E. and Kilian, A. (2006). Diversity arrays technology (DArT) for high-throughput profiling of the hexaploid wheat genome. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 113(8):1409-1420. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-006-0365-4
- Akond, A., Khandaker, L., Hossain, K.G. and Furuta, Y. (2010). Total polyphenol, polyphenol oxidase, antioxidant activity and color profiles of some wheat varieties from Bangladesh. *Research Journal of Agriculture and Biological Sciences*, 6 (2):186–190
- Akram, S., Arif, M. A. R. and Hameed, A. (2021). A GBS-based GWAS analysis of adaptability and yield traits in bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Journal of Applied Genetics*, 62(1): 27-41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13353-020-00593-1
- Ali, I., Sardar, Z., Rasheed, A. and Mahmood, T. (2015). Molecular characterization of the puroindoline-a and b alleles in synthetic hexaploid wheats and in silico functional and structural insights into Pina-D1. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 376:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2015.04.001
- Al-Rawahi, A., Edwards, G., Al-Sibani, M., Al-Thani, G., Al-Harrasi, A. and Shafiur Rahman, M. (2013). Phenolic Constituents of Pomegranate Peels (Punica granatum L.) Cultivated in Oman. *European Journal of Medicinal Plants*, 4 (3):315–331. https://doi.org/10.9734/EJMP/2014/6417
- Al-Saleh, A. and Brennan, C.S. (2012). Bread Wheat Quality: Some Physical, Chemical and Rheological Characteristics of Syrian and English Bread Wheat Samples. *Foods*, 1 (1):3–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods1010003

- Altenbach, S.B., Chang, H.-C., Yu, X.B., Seabourn, B.W., Green, P.H. and Alaedini, A. (2019). Elimination of Omega-1,2 Gliadins From Bread Wheat (Triticum aestivum) Flour: Effects on Immunogenic Potential and End-Use Quality. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpls.2019.00580
- Alvarez, J.B. and Guzmán, C. (2018). Interspecific and intergeneric hybridization as a source of variation for wheat grain quality improvement. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 131 (2):225–251. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-017-3042-x
- Amerine, M.A., Pangborn, R.M. and Roessler, E.B. (2013). Principles of sensory evaluation of food. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2013-0-08103-0
- Andersen, S.B. (Ed). (2013). *Plant Breeding from Laboratories to Fields*. Rijeka: IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/3362
- Andersson, A.A.M., Andersson, R., Piironen, V., Lampi, A.-M., Nyström, L., Boros, D., Fraś, A., Gebruers, K., Courtin, C.M., Delcour, J.A., Rakszegi, M., Bedo, Z., Ward, J.L., Shewry, P.R. and Åman, P. (2013). Contents of dietary fibre components and their relation to associated bioactive components in whole grain wheat samples from the HEALTHGRAIN diversity screen. *ASSET* 2011, 136 (3):1243–1248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.09.074
- Awika, J.M. (2011). Major cereal grains production and use around the world. In Advances in cereal science: implications to food processing and health promotion. *American Chemical Society*, 1-13. DOI: 10.1021/bk-2011-1089.ch001
- Ayad, R. and Akkal, S. (2019). Chapter 12 Phytochemistry and biological activities of algerian Centaurea and related genera. In: Atta-ur-Rahman (ed.) *Studies in Natural Products Chemistry*. Elsevier. 357–414. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817901-7.00012-5
- Balasundram, N., Sundram, K. and Samman, S. (2006). Phenolic compounds in plants and agriindustrial by-products: Antioxidant activity, occurrence, and potential uses. *Food Chemistry*, 99 (1):191–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2005.07.042
- Bálint, A.F., Kovács, G., Erdei, L. and Sutka, J. (2001). Comparison of the Cu, Zn, Fe, Ca and Mg contents of the grains of wild, ancient and cultivated wheat species. *Cereal Research Communications*, 29 (3–4):375–382. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf03543684
- Bansode, R. and Kumar, S. (2015). Biofortification: A novel tool to reduce micronutrient malnutrition. *Indian Research Journal Genetics and Biotechnology*, 7, 205–208
- Barak, S., Mudgil, D. and Khatkar, B.S. (2013). Relationship of gliadin and glutenin proteins with dough rheology, flour pasting and bread making performance of wheat varieties. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 51 (1):211–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2012.09.011
- Barber, T.M., Kabisch, S., Pfeiffer, A.F.H. and Weickert, M.O. (2020). The Health Benefits of Dietary Fibre. *Nutrients*, 12 (10). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12103209
- Bashir, M.A., Kashif, M., Habib, I., Nazir, S., Mumtaz, A. and Rahman, S. (2024). Molecular characterization of bread quality contributing high and low-molecular-weight glutenin subunits in Pakistani spring wheat genotypes. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution*, 71:285–295 (2024). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10722-023-01622-8
- Batifoulier, F., Verny, M.A., Chanliaud, E., Rémésy, C. and Demigné, C. (2006). Variability of B vitamin concentrations in wheat grain, milling fractions and bread products. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 25:163-169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2006.04.009
- Bechtel, D., Abecassis, J., Shewry, P. and Evers, A. (2009). CHAPTER 3: Development, Structure, and Mechanical Properties of the Wheat Grain. In: *Wheat: Chemistry and Technology*. 51–95. https://doi.org/10.1094/9781891127557.003
- Bedő, Z. and Láng, L. (2015). Wheat Breeding: Current Status and Bottlenecks. In: Molnár-Láng, M., Ceoloni, C., and Doležel, J. (eds) *Alien Introgression in Wheat:*

Cytogenetics, Molecular Biology, and Genomics. Cham: Springer International Publishing. 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-23494-6 3

- Begna, T. (2021). Role and economic importance of crop genetic diversity in food security. *International Journal of Agricultural Science and Food Technology*, 7 (1):164–169. https://doi.org/10.17352/2455-815X.000104
- Beissinger, T.M., Hirsch, C.N., Sekhon, R.S., Foerster, J.M., Johnson, J.M., Muttoni, G., Vaillancourt, B., Buell, C.R., Kaeppler, S.M. and de Leon, N. (2013). Marker density and read depth for genotyping populations using genotyping-by-sequencing. *Genetics*, 193(4):1073-1081. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.112.147710
- Bellundagi, A., Ramya, K.T., Krishna, H., Jain, N., Shashikumara, P., Singh, P.K., Singh, G.P. and Prabhu, K.V. (2022). Marker-assisted backcross breeding for heat tolerance in bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Frontiers in Genetics*, 13:1056783.. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2022.1056783
- Belzile, F. and Torkamaneh, D. (2022). Designing a Genome-Wide Association Study: Main Steps and Critical Decisions. In: Torkamaneh, D. and Belzile, F. (eds) Genome-Wide Association Studies. New York, NY: Springer US. 3-12. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-0716-2237-7 1
- Bentley, D.R., Balasubramanian, S., Swerdlow, H.P., Smith, G.P., Milton, J., Brown, C.G., Hall, K.P., Evers, D.J., Barnes, C.L. and Bignell, H.R. (2008). Accurate whole human genome sequencing using reversible terminator chemistry. *Nature*, 456:53-59. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07517
- Bernatzky, R. and Tanksley, S.D. (1986). Toward a saturated linkage map in tomato based on isozymes and random cDNA sequences. *Genetics*, 112(4):887-898. https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/112.4.887
- Best, I., Portugal, A., Casimiro-Gonzales, S., Aguilar, L., Ramos-Escudero, F., Honorio, Z., Rojas-Villa, N., Benavente, C. and Muñoz, A.M. (2023). Physicochemical and Rheological Characteristics of Commercial and Monovarietal Wheat Flours from Peru. *Foods*, 12 (9):1789. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods12091789
- Bhagyawant, S.S. (2016). RAPD-SCAR Markers: An Interface Tool for Authentication of Traits. *Journal of Biosciences and Medicines*, 4(1):9. https://doi.org/10.4236/jbm.2016.41001
- Bhandari, H., Bhanu, A.N., Srivastava, K., Singh, M. and Shreya, H.A. (2017). Assessment of genetic diversity in crop plants-an overview. *Advances in Plants and Agriculture Research*, 7(3):279-286. https://doi.org/10.15406/apar.2017.07.00255
- Bhatia, D. and Bajwa, G.S. (2022). Molecular Marker Techniques and Recent Advancements. In: Humira Sonah, V.G., S.M. Shivaraj, Rupesh K. Deshmukh (ed.) *Genotyping by* Sequencing for Crop Improvement. 1-21. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119745686.ch1
- Bhatia, D., Wing, R.A., Yu, Y., Chougule, K., Kudrna, D., Lee, S., Rang, A. and Singh, K. (2018). Genotyping by sequencing of rice interspecific backcross inbred lines identifies QTLs for grain weight and grain length. *Euphytica*, 214:41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-018-2119-1
- Bi, W., Zhou, W., Dey, R., Mukherjee, B., Sampson, J.N. and Lee, S., 2021. Efficient mixed model approach for large-scale genome-wide association studies of ordinal categorical phenotypes. The American Journal of Human Genetics, 108(5):825-839. DOI: 10.1101/2020.10.09.333146
- Black, R. (2003). Micronutrient deficiency: an underlying cause of morbidity and mortality. Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 81(2):79-79. https://www.scielosp.org/pdf/bwho/v81n2/v81n2a02.pdf

- Boehm, J.D., Ibba, M.I., Kiszonas, A.M., See, D.R., Skinner, D.Z. and Morris, C.F. (2017). Identification of genotyping-by-sequencing sequence tags associated with milling performance and end-use quality traits in hard red spring wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Journal of Cereal Science*, 77:73-83. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2017.07.007
- Borneo, R. and León, A.E. (2012). Whole grain cereals: functional components and health benefits. *Food and function*, 3(2):110-119. doi: 10.1039/c1fo10165j
- Borrill, P., Connorton, J.M., Balk, J., Miller, A.J., Sanders, D. and Uauy, C. (2014). Biofortification of wheat grain with iron and zinc: Integrating novel genomic resources and knowledge from model crops. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 5 (FEB). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00053
- Bouis, H.E. (2002). Plant breeding: a new tool for fighting micronutrient malnutrition. *The Journal of nutrition*, 132 (3), 491S-494S. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/132.3.491S
- Bouis, H.E. and Welch, R.M. (2010). Biofortification—A Sustainable Agricultural Strategy for Reducing Micronutrient Malnutrition in the Global South. Crop Science, 50 (S1):S-20. https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci2009.09.0531
- Bresciani, L., Scazzina, F., Leonardi, R., Dall'Aglio, E., Newell, M., Dall'Asta, M., Melegari, C., Ray, S., Brighenti, F. and Del Rio, D. (2016). Bioavailability and metabolism of phenolic compounds from wholegrain wheat and aleurone-rich wheat bread. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, 60 (11):2343–2354. https://doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.201600238
- Bromilow, S., Gethings, L.A., Buckley, M., Bromley, M., Shewry, P.R., Langridge, J.I. and Clare Mills, E.N. (2017). A curated gluten protein sequence database to support development of proteomics methods for determination of gluten in gluten-free foods. *Journal of Proteomics*, 163, 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2017.03.026
- Buczek, J., Jańczak-Pieniążek, M., Harasim, E., Kwiatkowski, C.A. and Kapusta, I. (2023). Effect of cropping systems and environment on phenolic acid profiles and yielding of hybrid winter wheat genotypes. Agriculture, 13(4):834.
- Budak, H., Baenziger, P.S., Graybosch, R.A., Beecher, B.S., Eskridge, K.M. and Shipman, M.J. (2003). Genetic and Environmental Effects on Dough Mixing Characteristics and Agronomic Performance of Diverse Hard Red Winter Wheat Genotypes. *Cereal Chemistry*,80(5):518-523. doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1094/CCHEM.2003.80.5.518
- Burley, V.J., Champ, M.M.-J., Cloran, S.J., Fleith, M., Mejborn, H., Stephen, A.M. and van Lieshout, L. (2017). Dietary fibre in Europe: current state of knowledge on definitions, sources, recommendations, intakes and relationships to health. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, 30 (2):149–190. https://doi.org/10.1017/S095442241700004X
- Bustos, M.C., Perez, G.T. and León, A.E. (2011). Sensory and nutritional attributes of fibreenriched pasta. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 44 (6):1429–1434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2011.02.002
- Cakmak, I., Ozkan, H., Braun, H.J., Welch, R.M. and Romheld, V. (2000). Zinc and iron concentrations in seeds of wild, primitive, and modern wheats. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, 21 (4):401–403. https://doi.org/10.1177/156482650002100411
- Cakmak, I., Torun, A., Özkan, H., Millet, E., Feldman, M., Fahima, T., Korol, A., Nevo, E. and Braun, H.J. (2004). Triticum dicoccoides: An important genetic resource for increasing zinc and iron concentration in modern cultivated wheat. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 50 (7):1047–1054. https://doi.org/10.1080/00380768.2004.10408573
- Camerlengo, F., Sestili, F., Silvestri, M., Colaprico, G., Margiotta, B., Ruggeri, R., Lupi, R., Masci, S.,and Lafiandra, D. (2017). Production and molecular characterization of bread wheat lines with reduced amount of α-type gliadins. *BMC Plant Biolology* 17:248. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-017-1211-3

- Can, H., Kal, U., Ozyigit, I.I., Paksoy, M. and Turkmen, O. (2019). Construction, characteristics and high throughput molecular screening methodologies in some special breeding populations: a horticultural perspective. *Journal of genetics*, 98:1-19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12041-019-1129-7
- Cappelli, A., Oliva, N. and Cini, E. (2020). Stone milling versus roller milling: A systematic review of the effects on wheat flour quality, dough rheology, and bread characteristics. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 97:147–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2020.01.008
- Carcea, M., Salvatorelli, S., Turfani, V. and Mellara, F. (2006). Influence of growing conditions on the technological performance of bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 41:102–107. https://api.semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:94986568
- Cardinale, B.J., Duffy, J.E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D.U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G.M., Tilman, D. and Wardle, D.A. (2012). Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature*, 486(7401), 59-67. https://doi.org/go.nature.com/3xaqkMO
- Ceccarelli, S. and Grando, S. (2020). Evolutionary Plant Breeding as a Response to the Complexity of Climate Change. *iScience*, 23(12):101815. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2020.101815
- Chen, Q. and Wu, F.-B. (2020). Breeding for low cadmium accumulation cereals. *Journal of Zhejiang University. Science. B*, 21 (6), 442. https://doi.org/10.1631/jzus.B1900576
- Chhuneja, P., Dhaliwal, H.S., Bains, N.S. and Singh, K. (2006). Aegilops kotschyi and Aegilops tauschii as sources for higher levels of grain Iron and Zinc. *Plant Breeding*, 125 (5):529–531. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0523.2006.01223.x
- Chikpah, S.K., Korese, J.K., Hensel, O., Sturm, B. and Pawelzik, E. (2021). Rheological properties of dough and bread quality characteristics as influenced by the proportion of wheat flour substitution with orange-fleshed sweet potato flour and baking conditions. *LWT*, 147:111515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2021.111515
- Clemens, S. and Ma, J.F., 2016. Toxic heavy metal and metalloid accumulation in crop plants and foods. Annual review of plant biology, 67(1):489-512. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-043015-112301.
- Commission Regulation (EU). (2023). Commission Regulation (EU) 2023/915 of 25 April 2023 on maximum levels for certain contaminants in food and repealing Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006 (Text with EEA relevance). https://eurlex.europa.eu/eli/reg/2023/915/oj
- Cooper, M. and Messina, C.D. (2022). Breeding crops for drought-affected environments and improved climate resilience. *The Plant Cell*, 35(1), 162-186. https://doi.org/10.1093/plcell/koac321
- Crespo-Herrera, L.A., Velu, G. and Singh, R.P., (2016). Quantitative trait loci mapping reveals pleiotropic effect for grain iron and zinc concentrations in wheat. *Annals of applied biology*, 169(1):27-35. https://doi.org/10.1111/aab.12276
- Crossa, J., Beyene, Y., Kassa, S., Perez, P., Hickey, J.M., Chen, C., de los Campos, G., Burgueno, J., Windhausen, V.S., Buckler, E., Jannink, J.L., Lopez Cruz, M.A. and Babu, R. (2013). Genomic prediction in maize breeding populations with genotypingby-sequencing. G3 Genes|Genomes|Genetics, 3(11), 1903-26. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.113.008227
- Curic, D., Karlovic, D., Tusak, D., Petrovic, B. and Dugum, J. (2001). Gluten as a standard of wheat flour quality. *Food Technology and Biotechnology*, 39(4):353-362.
- Devos, K.M. (2010). Grass genome organization and evolution. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 13(2), 139-145. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2009.12.005

- Dietzen, D.J. (2018). Amino acids, peptides, and proteins. In *Principles and Applications of Molecular Diagnostics*, Elsevier 345-380. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816061-9.00013-8
- Dinelli, G., Segura-Carretero, A., Di Silvestro, R., Marotti, I., Arráez-Román, D., Benedettelli, S., Ghiselli, L. and Fernadez-Gutierrez, A. (2011). Profiles of phenolic compounds in modern and old common wheat varieties determined by liquid chromatography coupled with time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Advanced Food Analysis*, 1218 (42):7670–7681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2011.05.065
- Distelfeld, A., Uauy, C., Fahima, T. and Dubcovsky, J. (2006). Physical map of the wheat highgrain protein content gene Gpc-B1 and development of a high-throughput molecular marker. *New Phytologist*, 169 (4):753–763. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2005.01627.x
- Drezner, G., Dvojkovic, K., Horvat, D., Novoselovic, D. and Lalic, A. (2007). Environmental Impacts on Wheat Agronomic and Quality Traits. *Cereal Research Communications*, 35(2):357-360. https://doi.org/10.1556/CRC.35.2007.2.48
- Dubois, B., Bertin, P. and Mingeot, D. (2016). Molecular diversity of α-gliadin expressed genes in genetically contrasted spelt (*Triticum aestivum* ssp. *spelta*) accessions and comparison with bread wheat (*T. aestivum* ssp. *aestivum*) and related diploid *Triticum* and *Aegilops* species. *Molecular Breeding* 36:152. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11032-016-0569-5
- Dvořák J., Terlizzi P. D., Zhang H.-B., Resta P. (1993). The evolution of polyploid wheats: identification of the a genome donor species. *Genome* 36:21–31. 10.1139/g93-004
- Edirisinghe, E.M.R.K.B. and Jinadasa, B.K.K.K. (2019). Arsenic and cadmium concentrations in legumes and cereals grown in the North Central Province, Sri Lanka and assessment of their health risk. *International Journal of Food Contamination*, 6 (1):3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40550-019-0073-x
- EkoWeb, (2020). Ekologisk livsmedelsmarknad: Rapport om den ekologiska branschen. EkoWeb.nu, Lidköping. http://www.ekoweb.nu/attachments/67/68.pdf [2023-10-21]
- Ellneskog-Staam, P. and Merker, A. (2002). Screening for resistance to powdery mildew and brown rust in wheat-Leymus racemosus and wheat-Thinopyrum junceiforme alloploids. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B-Plant Soil Science*, 52 (4):158– 161. https://doi.org/doi/pdf/10.1080/090647103100004852
- Elshire, R.J., Glaubitz, J.C., Sun, Q., Poland, J.A., Kawamoto, K., Buckler, E.S. and Mitchell, S.E. (2011). A robust, simple genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) approach for high diversity species. *Plos One*, 6(5):e19379. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019379
- Ennis, J.M., Rousseau, B. and Ennis, D.M. (2014). Sensory Difference Tests as Measurement Instruments: a Review of Recent Advances. *Journal of Sensory Studies*, 29 (2):89– 102. https://doi.org/10.1111/joss.12086
- Enyew, M., Feyissa, T., Carlsson, A.S., Tesfaye, K., Hammenhag, C., Seyoum, A. and Geleta, M. (2022). Genome-wide analyses using multi-locus models revealed marker-trait associations for major agronomic traits in Sorghum bicolor. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 3837. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.999692
- European Commission (2020). Farm to fork strategy: for a fair, healthy and environmentallyfriendly food system. *Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions*, 381, 1–9
- European Commssion (2021). Commission Regulation (EU) 2021/1323 of 10 August 2021 amending Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006 as regards maximum levels of cadmium in

certain foodstuffs (Text with EEA relevance). *Official Journal of the European Union*, 288 (13):13–18. [2024-01-04]

- European Food Safety Authority (2012). Cadmium dietary exposure in the European population. *EFSA Journal*, 10 (1):2551. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2551
- Eurostat, S.E. (2023). *Developmments in organic farming*. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statisticsexplained/index.php?title=Developments_in_organic_farming#Organic_production [2024-05-06]
- FAOSTAT (2022). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Statistical Year Book. http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data (accessed March 20th, 2022)
- Fedoroff, N.V., Battisti, D.S., Beachy, R.N., Cooper, P.J.M., Fischhoff, D.A., Hodges, C.N., Knauf, V.C., Lobell, D., Mazur, B.J., Molden, D., Reynolds, M.P., Ronald, P.C., Rosegrant, M.W., Sanchez, P.A., Vonshak, A. and Zhu, J.-K. (2010). Radically Rethinking Agriculture for the 21st Century. *Science*, 327(5967):833-834. https://doi.org/doi:10.1126/science.1186834
- Feldman, M. (2001). Origin of cultivated wheat: The World Wheat Book: A History of Wheat Breeding. In: Bonjean, A.P. and Angus, W.J. (eds). Paris, France.: Lavoisier Publishing. 3-53. https://books.google.se/books?id=9P1lQgAACAAJ
- Field, J.L., Henry, K., Hopmans, J.W., Horwath, W.R., Jenkins, B.M., Kebreab, E., Leemans, R., Lipper, L., Lubell, M.N., Msangi, S., Prabhu, R., Reynolds, M.P., Sandoval Solis, S., Sischo, W.M., Springborn, M., Tittonell, P., Wheeler, S.M., Vermeulen, S.J., Wollenberg, E.K., Jarvis, L.S. and Jackson, L.E. (2014). Climate-smart agriculture global research agenda: scientific basis for action. *Agriculture and Food Security*, 3(1):11. https://doi.org/10.1186/2048-7010-3-11
- Figueroa, M., Hammond-Kosack, K.E. and Solomon, P.S. (2018). A review of wheat diseases—a field perspective. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, 19(6):1523-1536. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/mpp.12618
- Finney, K.F., Yamazaki, W.T., Youngs, V.L. and Rubenthaler, G.L. (1987). Quality of Hard, Soft, and Durum Wheats. In: *Wheat and Wheat Improvement*. 677–748. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronmonogr13.2ed.c35
- Fischer, R.A. and Edmeades, G.O. (2010). Breeding and Cereal Yield Progress. *Crop Science*, 50(S1), S-85-S-98. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci2009.10.0564
- Foley, J.A., Ramankutty, N., Brauman, K.A., Cassidy, E.S., Gerber, J.S., Johnston, M., Mueller, N.D., O'Connell, C., Ray, D.K., West, P.C., Balzer, C., Bennett, E.M., Carpenter, S.R., Hill, J., Monfreda, C., Polasky, S., Rockström, J., Sheehan, J., Siebert, S., Tilman, D. and Zaks, D.P.M. (2011). Solutions for a cultivated planet. *Nature*, 478 (7369):337–342. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10452
- Gadaleta, A., Marcotuli, I., Arriagada, O., Johansson, E., Rahmatov, M., Ceresino, E., Soriano, J.M. and Schwember, A.R. (2023). Chapter 1 Use of genetic resources and prebreeding activities in order to improve nutritional and health-related properties of cereals and pseudocereals. In: Rakszegi, M., Papageorgiou, M., and Rocha, J.M. (eds) *Developing Sustainable and Health Promoting Cereals and Pseudocereals*. Academic Press. 5–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-90566-4.00010-2
- Gamage, A., Gangahagedara, R., Gamage, J., Jayasinghe, N., Kodikara, N., Suraweera, P. and Merah, O. (2023). Role of organic farming for achieving sustainability in agriculture. *Farming System*, 1 (1):100005. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.farsys.2023.100005
- Ganno, J., Alemu, D. and Ayalew, G. (2017). Study of genetic variation and grain quality traits in bread wheat (Tritium aestivum L.) genotypes. African Journal of Plant Breeding, 4(1):172-182. https://www.internationalscholarsjournals.com/articles/a-study-of-

genetic-variation-and-grain-quality-traits-in-bread-wheat-tritium-aestivum-l-genotypes.pdf

- Gao, H., Xie, W., Yang, C., Xu, J., Li, J., Wang, H., Chen, X. and Huang, C.F., (2018). NRAMP2, a trans-Golgi network-localized manganese transporter, is required for Arabidopsis root growth under manganese deficiency. New Phytologist, 217(1):179-193. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14783
- Gebruers, K., Dornez, E., Boros, D., Anna Fraś, Dynkowska, W., Bedő, Z., Rakszegi, M., Delcour, J.A. and Courtin, C.M. (2008). Variation in the Content of Dietary Fiber and Components Thereof in Wheats in the HEALTHGRAIN Diversity Screen. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56 (21):9740–9749. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf800975w
- Gill, K.S., Gill, B.S., Endo, T.R. and Mukai, Y. (1993). Fine physical mapping of Ph1, a chromosome pairing regulator gene in polyploid wheat. *Genetics*, 134(4):1231-1236. https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/134.4.1231
- Gillette, M. (1990). Sensory evaluation: analytical and affective testing. *Perfumer and flavorist*, 15:33–40
- Gong, L., Chi, H., Wang, J., Zhang, H. and Sun, B. (2019). In vitro fermentabilities of whole wheat as compared with refined wheat in different cultivars. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 52:505–515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2018.11.027
- Gordeeva, E., Shamanin, V., Shoeva, O., Kukoeva, T., Morgounov, A. and Khlestkina, E. (2020). The strategy for marker-assisted breeding of anthocyanin-rich spring bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) cultivars in Western Siberia. *Agronomy*, 10(10):1603. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10101603
- Gordeeva, E.I., Glagoleva, A.Y., Kukoeva, T.V., Khlestkina, E.K. and Shoeva, O.Y. (2019). Purple-grained barley (Hordeum vulgare L.): marker-assisted development of NILs for investigating peculiarities of the anthocyanin biosynthesis regulatory network. *Bmc Plant Biology*, 19(1):49-57. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-019-1638-9
- Grant, C.A., Clarke, J.M., Duguid, S. and Chaney, R.L. (2008). Selection and breeding of plant cultivars to minimize cadmium accumulation. *Science of The Total Environment*, 390 (2):301–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2007.10.038
- Graybosch, R.A., Peterson, C.J., Baenziger, P.S. and Shelton, D.R. (1995). Environmental modification of hard red winter wheat flour protein composition. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 22(1):45-51. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0733-5210(05)80006-2
- Gregory, T.R. (2009). Artificial Selection and Domestication: Modern Lessons from Darwin's Enduring Analogy. *Evolution: Education and Outreach*, 2(1):5-27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12052-008-0114-z
- Grimble, G.K. (1993). Essential and Conditionally-Essential Nutrients in Clinical Nutrition. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, 6 (1):97–119. https://doi.org/10.1079/NRR19930008
- Guld, Z., Nyitrainé Sárdy, D., Gere, A. and Rácz, A. (2020). Comparison of sensory evaluation techniques for Hungarian wines. *Journal of Chemometrics*, 34 (4):e3219. https://doi.org/10.1002/cem.3219
- Gupta, P.K., Balyan, H.S., Sharma, S. and Kumar, R. (2021). Biofortification and bioavailability of Zn, Fe and Se in wheat: present status and future prospects. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 134:1-35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-020-03709-7
- Gupta, R.B., Masci, S., Lafiandra, D., Bariana, H.S. and MacRitchie, F. (1996). Accumulation of protein subunits and their polymers in developing grains of hexaploid wheats. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 47 (9):1377–1385. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/47.9.1377

- Guzmán, C., Medina-Larqué, A.S., Velu, G., González-Santoyo, H., Singh, R.P., Huerta-Espino, J., Ortiz-Monasterio, I. and Peña, R.J. (2014). Use of wheat genetic resources to develop biofortified wheat with enhanced grain zinc and iron concentrations and desirable processing quality. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 60(3):617-622. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2014.07.006
- Guzmán, C., Pena, R.J., Singh, R., Autrique, E., Dreisigacker, S., Crossa, J., Rutkoski, J., Poland, J. and Battenfield, S. (2016). Wheat quality improvement at CIMMYT and the use of genomic selection on it. *Appl Transl Genom*, 11:3-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atg.2016.10.004
- Guzmán, C., Posadas-Romano, G., Hernández-Espinosa, N., Morales-Dorantes, A. and Peña, R.J. (2015). A new standard water absorption criteria based on solvent retention capacity (SRC) to determine dough mixing properties, viscoelasticity, and breadmaking quality. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 66:59–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2015.10.009
- Guzmán, C., Singh, R., Govindan, V. and Ammar, K. (2019). Genetic improvement of wheat grain quality at CIMMYT. *Frontiers of Agricultural Science and Engineering*, 6(3). https://doi.org/10.15302/j-fase-2019260
- Haglund, Å., Johansson, L. and Dahlstedt, L. (1998). Sensory Evaluation of Wholemeal Bread from Ecologically and Conventionally Grown Wheat. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 27 (2):199–207. https://doi.org/10.1006/jcrs.1997.0155
- Hallenbeck, W.H. (1984). Human health effects of exposure to cadmium. *Experientia*, 40 (2):136–142. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01963576
- Han, B., Wang, C., Tang, Z., Ren, Y., Li, Y., Zhang, D., Dong, Y., and Zhao, X. (2015). Genome-Wide Analysis of Microsatellite Markers Based on Sequenced Database in Chinese Spring Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *PloS one*, 10(11):e0141540. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0141540
- Hao, C., Jiao, C., Hou, J., Li, T., Liu, H., Wang, Y., Zheng, J., Liu, H., Bi, Z., Xu, F. and Zhao, J. (2020). Resequencing of 145 landmark cultivars reveals asymmetric sub-genome selection and strong founder genotype effects on wheat breeding in China. *Molecular plant*, 13(12):1733-1751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molp.2020.09.001
- Harrington, S.A., Connorton, J.M., Nyangoma, N.I., McNelly, R., Morgan, Y.M., Aslam, M.F., Sharp, P.A., Johnson, A.A., Uauy, C. and Balk, J., (2023). A two-gene strategy increases iron and zinc concentrations in wheat flour, improving mineral bioaccessibility. *Plant Physiology*, 191(1):528-541. https://doi.org/10.1093/plphys/kiac499
- Hawkesford, M.J., Araus, J.-L., Park, R., Calderini, D., Miralles, D., Shen, T., Zhang, J. and Parry, M.A.J. (2013). Prospects of doubling global wheat yields. *Food and Energy Security*, 2(1):34-48. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/fes3.15
- Hayes, B. (2013). Overview of Statistical Methods for Genome-Wide Association Studies (GWAS). In: Gondro, C., van der Werf, J., Hayes, B. (eds) Genome-Wide Association Studies and Genomic Prediction. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 1019: 149-169. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-62703-447-0_6
- Hayes, M. (2020). Measuring protein content in food: An overview of methods. *Foods*, 9 (10):1340. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods9101340
- He, J., Zhao, X., Laroche, A., Lu, Z.-X., Liu, H. and Li, Z. (2014). Genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS), an ultimate marker-assisted selection (MAS) tool to accelerate plant breeding. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 5:484. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00484
- Hefferon, K.L. (2015). Nutritionally Enhanced Food Crops; Progress and Perspectives. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 16 (2):3895–3914. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms16023895

- Henderson, L., Irving K., Gregory J, Bates CJ, Prentice A and Perks J (2003). *The national diet and nutrition survey: adults aged 19-64 years*. London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
- Hernández-Espinosa, N., Mondal, S., Autrique, E., Gonzalez-Santoyo, H., Crossa, J., Huerta-Espino, J., Singh, R.P. and Guzmán, C. (2018). Milling, processing and end-use quality traits of CIMMYT spring bread wheat germplasm under drought and heat stress. *Field Crops Research*, 215:104-112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2017.10.003
- Hilbish, T.J. and Koehn, R.K. (1987). The adaptive importance of genetic variation. *American Scientist*, 75(2):134-141. https://www.jstor.org/stable/27854534
- Hitz, K., Clark, A.J. and Van Sanford, D.A. (2017). Identifying nitrogen-use efficient soft red winter wheat lines in high and low nitrogen environments. *Field Crops Research*, 200:1-9. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2016.10.001
- Hoffman, J.R. and Falvo, M.J. (2004). Protein–which is best? *Journal of sports science and medicine*, 3 (3):118. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3905294/
- Horvat, D., Drezner, G., Dvojković, K., Šimić, G., Španić, V. and Magdić, D. (2012). End-use quality of wheat cultivars in different environments. *Sjemenarstvo*, 29(1-2):5-11. https://hrcak.srce.hr/file/145888
- Hou, D., Wei, Y., Liu, K., Tan, J., Bi, Q., Liu, G., Yu, X., Bi, J. and Luo, L. (2023). The Response of Grain Yield and Quality of Water-Saving and Drought-Resistant Rice to Irrigation Regimes. *Agriculture*, 13(2):302. https://www.mdpi.com/2077-0472/13/2/302
- Hsia, C., Anderson, O. Isolation and characterization of wheat ω-gliadin genes. *Theor Appl Genet* 103:37–44 (2001). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-001-0552-2 https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci1976.0011183X001600050014x
- Huang M, Liu X, Zhou Y, Summers RM, Zhang Z (2019) BLINK: a package for the next level of genome-wide association studies with both individuals and markers in the millions. *Gigascience* 8(2):399–404. https://doi.org/10.1093/gigascience/giy154
- Hussain, A., Larsson, H., Kuktaite, R. and Johansson, E. (2010). Mineral Composition of Organically Grown Wheat Genotypes: Contribution to Daily Minerals Intake. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 7 (9):3442– 3456. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph7093442
- Hussain, A., Larsson, H., Kuktaite, R., Prieto-Linde, M.L. and Johansson, E. (2013). Amount and Size Distribution of Monomeric and Polymeric Proteins in the Grain of Organically Produced Wheat. *Cereal Chemistry*, 90 (1):80–86. https://doi.org/10.1094/CCHEM-05-12-0064-R
- Hussain, A., Larsson, H., Kuktaite, R., Prieto-Linde, M.L. and Johansson, E. (2012a). Towards the understanding of bread-making quality in organically grown wheat: Dough mixing behaviour, protein polymerisation and structural properties. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 56 (3):659–666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2012.07.016
- Hussain, A., Larsson, H., Olsson, M.E., Kuktaite, R., Grausgruber, H. and Johansson, E. (2012b). Is organically produced wheat a source of tocopherols and tocotrienols for health food? *Food Chemistry*, 132 (4):1789–1795
- Ibba, M.I., Juliana, P., Hernández-Espinosa, N., Posadas-Romano, G., Dreisigacker, S., Sehgal, D., Crespo-Herrera, L., Singh, R. and Guzmán, C. (2021). Genome-wide association analysis for arabinoxylan content in common wheat (T. Aestivum L.) flour. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 98:103166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2021.103166
- IFOAM (2008). Definition of organic agriculture. https://www.ifoam.bio/why-organic/organiclandmarks/definition-organic [2023-10-24]
- Irakli, M., Katsantonis, D. and Kleisiaris, F. (2015). Evaluation of quality attributes, nutraceutical components and antioxidant potential of wheat bread substituted with

rice bran. Journal of Cereal Science, 65:74–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2015.06.010

- Jabbari, M., Fakheri, B.A., Aghnoum, R., Mahdi Nezhad, N. and Ataei, R. (2018). GWAS analysis in spring barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) for morphological traits exposed to drought. *Plos One*, 13(9):e0204952. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204952
- Jagtap, A. B., Vikal, Y. and Johal G. S. (2020). Genome-Wide Development and Validation of Cost-Effective KASP Marker Assays for Genetic Dissection of Heat Stress Tolerance in Maize. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 21(19):7386. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21197386
- Jaiswal, J.P., Arya, M., Kumar, A. and Rawat, R.S. (2010). Assessing genetic diversity for yield and quality traits in indigenous bread wheat germplasm. *Electronic Journal of Plant Breeding*, 1 (4):370–378
- Jaiswal, V., Bandyopadhyay, T., Gahlaut, V., Gupta, S., Dhaka, A., Ramchiary, N. and Prasad, M. (2019). Genome-wide association study (GWAS) delineates genomic loci for ten nutritional elements in foxtail millet (Setaria italica L.). *Journal of Cereal Science*, 85:48-55. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2018.11.006
- Johansson, E. and Svensson, G. (1995). Contribution of the high molecular weight glutenin subunit 21* to breadmaking quality of Swedish wheats. *Cereal chemistry*, 72 (3):287–290
- Johansson, E. and Svensson, G. (1998). Variation in bread-making quality: effects of weather parameters on protein concentration and quality in some Swedish wheat cultivars grown during the period 1975–1996. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 78 (1):109–118. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0010(199809)78:1<109::AID-JSFA92>3.0.CO;2-0
- Johansson, E., Branlard, G., Cuniberti, M., Flagella, Z., Hüsken, A., Nurit, E., Peña, R.J., Sissons, M. and Vazquez, D. (2020a). Genotypic and Environmental Effects on Wheat Technological and Nutritional Quality. In: Igrejas, G., Ikeda, T.M., and Guzmán, C. (eds) Wheat Quality For Improving Processing And Human Health. Springer International Publishing. 171–204. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-34163-3 8
- Johansson, E., Henriksson, P., Svensson, G. and Heneen, W.K. (1993). Detection, chromosomal location and evaluation of the functional value of a novel high Mr glutenin subunit found in Swedish wheats. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 17 (3):237–245
- Johansson, E., Henriksson, T., Prieto-Linde, M.L., Andersson, S., Ashraf, R. and Rahmatov, M. (2020b). Diverse Wheat-Alien Introgression Lines as a Basis for Durable Resistance and Quality Characteristics in Bread Wheat. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11:1067. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.01067
- Johansson, E., Hussain, A., Kuktaite, R., Andersson, S.C. and Olsson, M.E. (2014). Contribution of Organically Grown Crops to Human Health. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 11 (4):3870–3893. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110403870
- Johansson, E., Kuktaite, R., Andersson, A. and Prieto-Linde, M.L. (2005). Protein polymer build-up during wheat grain development: influences of temperature and nitrogen timing. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 85(3):473-479. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.2006
- Johansson, E., Lan, Y., Olalekan, O., Kuktaite, R., Chawade, A. and Rahmatov, M. (2024). Alien introgression to wheat for food security: functional and nutritional quality for novel products under climate change. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 11:1393357. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2024.1393357
- Johansson, E., Malik, A.H., Hussain, A., Rasheed, F., Newson, W.R., Plivelic, T., Hedenqvist, M.S., Gällstedt, M. and Kuktaite, R. (2013). Wheat Gluten Polymer Structures: The

Impact of Genotype, Environment, and Processing on Their Functionality in Various Applications. *Cereal Chemistry*, 90 (4):367–376. https://doi.org/10.1094/CCHEM-08-12-0105-FI

- Johansson, E., Prieto-Linde, M.L. and Larsson, H. (2021). Locally Adapted and Organically Grown Landrace and Ancient Spring Cereals—A Unique Source of Minerals in the Human Diet. *Foods*, 10 (2):393. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods10020393
- Johansson, E., Svensson, G. and Heneen, W.K. (1994). Quality evaluation of the highmolecular-weight glutenin subunits in Swedish wheat material. *In Proceedings of 5th international workshop gluten proteins, Association of Cereal Research*, Detmold, Germany, 568–575. core.ac.uk/download/pdf/11698179.pdf
- Johansson, H. (1989). A Swedish perspective on plant breeding and baking properties of wheat. STU-Information 1989:70-81,
- Jolly, C.J., Glenn, G.M. and Rahman, S. (1996). GSP-1 genes are linked to the grain hardness locus (Ha) on wheat chromosome 5D. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93 (6):2408–2413. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.6.2408
- Jorhem, L., Sundström, B. and Engman, J. (2013). Trends in Cadmium and Certain Other Metal in Swedish Household Wheat and Rye Flours 1983-2009. Livsmedelsverkets Rapport, 15.https://www.livsmedelsverket.se/globalassets/publikationsdatabas/rapporter/2013/ 2013-national-food-agency-16---trends-in-cadmium-and-certain-other-metal-inswedish-household-wheat-and-rye-flours-1983-2009.pdf
- Kang, Y., Barry, K., Cao, F. and Zhou, M. (2020). Genome-wide association mapping for adult resistance to powdery mildew in common wheat. *Molecular Biology Reports*, 47(2):1241-1256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-019-05225-4
- Kardum, N., Takić, M., Šavikin, K., Zec, M., Zdunić, G., Spasić, S. and Konić-Ristić, A. (2014). Effects of polyphenol-rich chokeberry juice on cellular antioxidant enzymes and membrane lipid status in healthy women. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 9:89–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2014.04.019
- Kashif, M., Wani, S.H. and Shaukat, S., 2021. Wheat wild germplasm: a hidden treasure. In Wild Germplasm for Genetic Improvement in Crop Plants. Academic Press., 55-63. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-822137-2.00003-5
- Kaur, R., Dhillon, G.S., Kaur, A., Kaur, S., Toor, P.I., Kaur, D., Kumar, A., Mavi, G.S., Grewal, S.K., Sharma, A. and Srivastava, P. (2022). Marker-assisted introgression of genes into rye translocation leads to the improvement in bread making quality of wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Heredity 128:531–541. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41437-022-00538-w
- khosravi, A., Razavi, S.H. and Fadda, A.M. (2020). Advanced assessments on innovative methods to improve the bioaccessibility of polyphenols in wheat. *Process Biochemistry*, 88:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2019.09.005
- Kiani, R., Arzani, A. and Mirmohammady Maibody, S.A.M. (2021). Polyphenols, Flavonoids, and Antioxidant Activity Involved in Salt Tolerance in Wheat, Aegilops cylindrica and Their Amphidiploids. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 12. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpls.2021.646221
- Kiran, A., Wakeel, A., Mahmood, K., Mubaraka, R., Hafsa and Haefele, S.M. (2022). Biofortification of staple crops to alleviate human malnutrition: contributions and potential in developing countries. *Agronomy*, 12 (2):452
- Knox, R.E., Pozniak, C.J., Clarke, F.R., Clarke, J.M., Houshmand, S. and Singh, A.K. (2009). Chromosomal location of the cadmium uptake gene (Cdu1) in durum wheat. *Genome*. 52(9):741–747. doi: 10.1139/G09-042.

- Kole, C. (2011). Genomic and breeding resources. *SpringerVerlag Berlin Heidelberg*. https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/978-3-642-14228-4.pdf
- Kondić-Špika, A., Trkulja, D., Brbaklić, L., Mikić, S., Glogovac, S., Johansson, E., Alemu, A., Chawade, A., Rahmatov, M. and Ibba, M. I. (2023). Marker-assisted selection for the improvement of cereals and pseudocereals. In Developing Sustainable and Health Promoting Cereals and Pseudocereals. *Academic Press*: 253-283. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-90566-4.00012-6
- Kool, J., Giera, M., Irth, H. and Niessen, W.M.A. (2011). Advances in mass spectrometry-based post-column bioaffinity profiling of mixtures. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 399 (8):2655–2668. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-010-4406-0
- Kronstad, W.E., (1986). Germplasm: The key to past and future wheat improvement. Genetic improvement in yield of wheat, 13:41-53. https://doi.org/10.2135/cssaspecpub13.c4
- Kumar, P., Gupta, V., Misra, A., Modi, D. and Pandey, B. (2009). Potential of molecular markers in plant biotechnology. *Plant omics*, 2(4):141-162. https://WOS:000269217800002
- Lafiandra, D., Riccardi, G. and Shewry, P.R. (2014). Improving cereal grain carbohydrates for diet and health. *Cereal Science for Food Security*, *Nutrition and Sustainability*, 59 (3):312–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2014.01.001
- Lama, S., Leiva, F., Vallenback, P., Chawade, A. and Kuktaite, R. (2023). Impacts of heat, drought, and combined heat–drought stress on yield, phenotypic traits, and gluten protein traits: capturing stability of spring wheat in excessive environments. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 14. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpls.2023.1179701
- Lan, Y., Chawade, A., Kuktaite, R. and Johansson, E. (2022). Climate Change Impact on Wheat Performance-Effects on Vigour, Plant Traits and Yield from Early and Late Drought Stress in Diverse Lines. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(6):3333. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23063333
- Lan, Y., Kuktaite, R., Chawade, A. and Johansson, E. (2023). Diverse wheat lines to mitigate the effect of drought on end-use quality. *Frontiers in Food Science and Technology*, 3:1163412. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/frfst.2023.1163412
- Lan, Y., Kuktaite, R., Chawade, A. and Johansson, E. (2024). Combating heavy metals in wheat grains under drought – is alien or ancient germplasm a solution to secure food and health? *Journal of Agriculture and Food Research*, 16:101118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jafr.2024.101118
- Langar, K., Lorieux, M., Desmarais, E., Griveau, Y., Gentzbittel, L. and Bervillé, A. (2003). Combined mapping of DALP and AFLP markers in cultivated sunflower using F9 recombinant inbred lines. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 106(6):1068-1074. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-002-1087-x
- Lawless, H.T. and Heymann, H. (2010a). Acceptance Testing. In: Lawless, H.T. and Heymann, H. (eds) Sensory Evaluation of Food: Principles and Practices. Springer New York. 325–347. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-6488-5_14
- Lawless, H.T. and Heymann, H. (2010b). Discrimination Testing. In: Lawless, H.T. and Heymann, H. (eds) Sensory Evaluation of Food: Principles and Practices. Springer New York. 79–100. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-6488-5 4
- Le Gouis, J., Oury, F.-X. and Charmet, G. (2020). How changes in climate and agricultural practices influenced wheat production in Western Europe. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 93:102960. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2020.102960
- Lenaerts, B., Collard, B.C. and Demont, M. (2019). Improving global food security through accelerated plant breeding. *Plant Science*, 287:110207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2019.110207

- Levy, A. A. and Feldman, M. (2022). Evolution and origin of bread wheat, *The Plant Cell*, 34(7):2549–2567, https://doi.org/10.1093/plcell/koac130
- Li, F., Wen, W., Liu, J., Zhang, Y., Cao, S., He, Z., Rasheed, A., Jin, H., Zhang, C., Yan, J., Zhang, P., Wan, Y. and Xia, X. (2019). Genetic architecture of grain yield in bread wheat based on genome-wide association studies. *Bmc Plant Biology*, 19(1):168. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-019-1781-3
- Li, L., Tang, C., Rengel, Z. and Zhang, F. S. (2004). Calcium, magnesium and microelement uptake as affected by phosphorus sources and interspecific root interactions between wheat and chickpea. *Plant and Soil* 261:29–37. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:PLSO.0000035579.39823.16
- Li, T., Liu, B., Spalding, M.H., Weeks, D.P. and Yang, B. (2012). High-efficiency TALENbased gene editing produces disease-resistant rice. *Nature Biotechnology*, 30(5):390-392. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2199
- Lippert, C., Listgarten, J., Liu, Y., Kadie, C. M., Davidson, R. I., and Heckerman, D. (2011). FaST linear mixed models for genome-wide association studies. Nature Methods, 8(10):833-835. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1681
- Liu X, Huang M, Fan B et al (2016) Iterative usage of fixed and random effect models for powerful and efficient genome-wide association studies. *PLoS Genetics* 12:e1005767. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1005767
- Liu, D., Mou, S., Zou, Y., Yang, B., Ding, R., Nie, J., Zhang, X., Jia, Z. and Han, Q. (2023). Exploring the relationship between deep roots and shoot growth of wheat under different soil moisture: A large soil column experiment 1. *Rhizosphere*, 25:100675. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rhisph.2023.100675
- Liu, J., Feng, B., Xu, Z., Fan, X., Jiang, F., Jin, X., Cao, J., Wang, F., Liu, Q., Yang, L. and Wang, T. (2017). A genome-wide association study of wheat yield and quality-related traits in southwest China. *Molecular Breeding*, 38(1):1. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11032-017-0759-9
- Liu, J., Li, D., Zhu, P., Qiu, S., Yao, K., Zhuang, Y., Chen, C., Liu, G., Wen, M., Guo, R., Yao, W., Deng, Y., Shen, X. and Li, T. (2023). The Landscapes of Gluten Regulatory Network in Elite Wheat Cultivars Contrasting in Gluten Strength. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 24 (11):9447. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24119447
- Liu, Q., Qiu, Y. and Beta, T. (2010). Comparison of Antioxidant Activities of Different Colored Wheat Grains and Analysis of Phenolic Compounds. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58 (16), 9235–9241. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf101700s
- Liu, R.H. (2004). Potential Synergy of Phytochemicals in Cancer Prevention: Mechanism of Action. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 134 (12), 3479S-3485S. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/134.12.3479S
- Liu, R.H. (2007). Whole grain phytochemicals and health. *The Contribution of Cereals to a Healthy Diet, Journal of Cereal Science*, 46 (3), 207–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2007.06.010
- Liu, Z. (2007). Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (RFTP). In: Aquaculture Genome Technologies. 11-20. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470277560.ch2
- Liu, Z., Sun, Q., Ni, Z., Yang, T. and McIntosh, R.A. (1999). Development of SCAR markers linked to the Pm21 gene conferring resistance to powdery mildew in common wheat. *Plant Breeding*, 118(3):215-219. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0523.1999.118003215.x
- Long, Y. M., Chao, W. S., Ma, G. J., Xu, S. S., and Qi, L. L. (2017). An innovative SNP genotyping method adapting to multiple platforms and throughputs. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 130:597–607. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-016-2838-4.

- Lopes, T., Hatt, S., Xu, Q., Chen, J., Liu, Y. and Francis, F. (2016). Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.)-based intercropping systems for biological pest control. *Pest Management Science*, 72(12):2193-2202. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.4332.
- Lopez, M. J., and Mohiuddin, S. S. (2024). Biochemistry, essential amino acids. In *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK557845/
- Loskutov, I.G. and Khlestkina, E.K. (2021). Wheat, Barley, and Oat Breeding for Health Benefit Components in Grain. *Plants (Basel)*, 10(1):86. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10010086
- Lovegrove, A., Wingen, L.U., Plummer, A., Wood, A., Passmore, D., Kosik, O., Freeman, J., Mitchell, R.A.C., Hassall, K., Ulker, M., Tremmel-Bede, K., Rakszegi, M., Bedő, Z., Perretant, M.-R., Charmet, G., Pont, C., Salse, J., Waite, M.L., Orford, S., Burridge, A., Pellny, T.K., Shewry, P.R. and Griffiths, S. (2020). Identification of a major QTL and associated molecular marker for high arabinoxylan fibre in white wheat flour. *PLOS ONE*, 15 (2):e0227826. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0227826
- Lu, Y., Lv, J., Hao, J., Niu, Y., Whent, M., Costa, J. and Yu, L. (2015). Genotype, environment, and their interactions on the phytochemical compositions and radical scavenging properties of soft winter wheat bran. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 60 (1):277– 283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2014.09.039
- Luna-Guevara, Ma.L., Luna-Guevara, J.J., Hernández-Carranza, P., Ruíz-Espinosa, H. and Ochoa-Velasco, C.E. (2018). Chapter 3 - Phenolic Compounds: A Good Choice Against Chronic Degenerative Diseases. In: Atta-ur-Rahman (ed.) *Studies in Natural Products Chemistry*. Elsevier. 79–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64179-3.00003-7
- Ma, J., Ye, M., Liu, Q., Yuan, M., Zhang, D., Li, C., Zeng, Q., Wu, J., Han, D. and Jiang, L., (2023). Genome-wide association study for grain zinc concentration in bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 14:1169858. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2023.1169858
- Ma, W., Yu, Z., She, M., Zhao, Y. and Islam, S. (2019). Wheat gluten protein and its impacts on wheat processing quality. *Frontiers of Agricultural Science and Engineering*, 6:279–287
- Maclean, W., Harnly, J., Chen, J., Chevassus-Agnes, S., Gilani, G., Livesey, G. and Warwick, P. (2003). February. Food energy–Methods of analysis and conversion factors. In Food and agriculture organization of the united nations technical workshop report 77:8-9. Rome, Italy: The Food and Agriculture Organization.https://www.ars.usda.gov/research/publications/publication/?seqNo115 =172524
- Mæhre, H.K., Dalheim, L., Edvinsen, G.K., Elvevoll, E.O. and Jensen, I.-J. (2018). Protein determination—method matters. *Foods*, 7 (1):5. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods7010005
- Mahmuti, M., West, J.S., Watts, J., Gladders, P. and Fitt, B.D.L. (2009). Controlling crop disease contributes to both food security and climate change mitigation. *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability*, 7(3):189-202. https://doi.org/10.3763/ijas.2009.0476
- Mamta, Misra, K., Dhillon, G.S., Brar, S.K. and Verma, M. (2014). Antioxidants. In: Brar, S.K., Dhillon, G.S., and Soccol, C.R. (eds) *Biotransformation of Waste Biomass into High Value Biochemicals*. Springer New York. 117–138. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-8005-1 6
- Marchetti, L., Cardós, M., Campaña, L. and Ferrero, C. (2012). Effect of glutens of different quality on dough characteristics and breadmaking performance. *LWT Food Science and Technology*, 46 (1):224–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2011.10.002

- Mariotti, F., Tomé, D. and Mirand, P.P. (2008). Converting Nitrogen into Protein—Beyond 6.25 and Jones' Factors. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 48 (2):177–184. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408390701279749
- Markgren, J., Hedenqvist, M., Rasheed, F., Skepö, M. and Johansson, E. (2020). Glutenin and gliadin, a piece in the puzzle of their structural properties in the cell described through Monte Carlo simulations. Biomolecules, 10(8):1095.https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10081095
- Markgren, J., Rasheed, F., Hedenqvist, M.S., Skepö, M. and Johansson, E. (2022). Clustering and cross-linking of the wheat storage protein α-gliadin: A combined experimental and theoretical approach. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 211:592– 615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2022.05.032
- Martin, S. and Griswold, W. (2009). Human health effects of heavy metals. Environmental Science and Technology briefs for citizens, 15(5):1-6.https://engg.kstate.edu/chsr/files/chsr/outreachresources/15HumanHealthEffectsofHeavyMetals.pdf
- Mastrangelo, A.M. and Cattivelli, L. (2021). What Makes Bread and Durum Wheat Different? *Trends in Plant Science,* 26(7):677-684. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2021.01.004
- Matsuoka Y. (2011). Evolution of polyploid triticum wheats under cultivation: the role of domestication, natural hybridization and allopolyploid speciation in their diversification. *Plant Cell*. Physiol. 52:750–764. doi.10.1093/pcp/pcr018
- McBeath, J.H., McBeath, J. (2010). Plant Diseases, Pests and Food Security. In: Environmental Change and Food Security in China. *Advances in Global Change Research*, 35. Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-9180-3_5
- Meemken, E.-M. and Qaim, M. (2018). Organic Agriculture, Food Security, and the Environment. *Annual Review of Resource Economics*, 10 (1):39–63. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-resource-100517-023252
- Meilgaard, M.C., Carr, B.T. and Civille, G.V. (1999). *Sensory evaluation techniques*. CRC press, Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, Florida. 10.1201/9781003040729
- Menga, V., Giovanniello, V., Savino, M., Gallo, A., Colecchia, S.A., De Simone, V., Zingale, S. and Ficco, D.B. (2023). Comparative Analysis of Qualitative and Bioactive Compounds of Whole and Refined Flours in Durum Wheat Grains with Different Year of Release and Yield Potential. *Plants*, 12 (6):1350. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants12061350
- Mérida-García, R., Bentley, A.R., Gálvez, S., Dorado, G., Solís, I., Ammar, K. and Hernandez, P. (2020). Mapping Agronomic and Quality Traits in Elite Durum Wheat Lines under Differing Water Regimes. *Agronomy*, 10(1):144. https://www.mdpi.com/2073-4395/10/1/144
- Merker, A. and Lantai, K. (1997). Hybrids between wheats and perennial Leymus and Thinopyrum species. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B Soil and Plant Science*, 47 (1):48–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/09064719709362438
- Merker, A. and Rogalska, S. (1984). The Breeding Behaviour Of A Double Disomic Wheat-Rye Substitution Line. *Cereal Research Communications*, 12 (1/2):13–17. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23781520 [2023-08-23]
- Messina, C.D. and Cooper, M. (2022). Plant Breeding in the face of climate change. *bioRxiv*, 2022.10.07.511293. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.10.07.511293
- Meyer, M., and Kirkness, E. F. (2019). Advances in Next-Generation Sequencing Technology. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development*, 55:96-101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2018.10.008

- Mihalyov, P.D., Nichols, V.A., Bulli, P., Rouse, M.N. and Pumphrey, M.O. (2017). Multi-Locus Mixed Model Analysis Of Stem Rust Resistance In Winter Wheat. *The Plant Genome*, 10(2), plantgenome2017.01.0001. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3835/plantgenome2017.01.0001
- Molnár-Láng, M. and Linc, G. (2015). Wheat-Barley Hybrids and Introgression Lines. In: Molnár-Láng, M., Ceoloni, C., and Doležel, J. (eds) *Alien Introgression in Wheat: Cytogenetics, Molecular Biology, and Genomics*. Cham: Springer International Publishing. 315–345. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-23494-6 12
- Molnar-Láng, M., Ceoloni, C. and Dolezel, J. (2016). Alien introgression in wheat cytogenetics, molecular biology, and genomics. *Cereal Research Communications*, 44 (3):535. https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A465167440/AONE?u=anon~8c65abf5andsid=google Scholarandxid=f18afd77
- Monasterio, I. and Graham, R.D. (2000). Breeding for trace minerals in wheat. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, 21 (4), 392–396. https://doi.org/10.1177/156482650002100409
- Mondal, S., Singh, R.P., Mason, E.R., Huerta-Espino, J., Autrique, E. and Joshi, A.K. (2016). Grain yield, adaptation and progress in breeding for early-maturing and heat-tolerant wheat lines in South Asia. *Field Crops Research*, 192:78-85. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2016.04.017
- Morris, C.E. and Sands, D.C. (2006). The breeder's dilemma—yield or nutrition? *Nature Biotechnology*, 24 (9):1078–1080. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt0906-1078
- Morris, G.P., Rhodes, D.H., Brenton, Z., Ramu, P., Thayil, V.M., Deshpande, S., Hash, C.T., Acharya, C., Mitchell, S.E. and Buckler, E.S. (2013). Dissecting genome-wide association signals for loss-of-function phenotypes in sorghum flavonoid pigmentation traits. G3: Genes, genomes, genetics, 3(11):2085-2094. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.113.008417
- Moschitz, H., Muller, A., Kretzschmar, U., Haller, L., de Porras, M., Pfeifer, C., Oehen, B., Willer, H. and Stolz, H. (2021). How can the EU Farm to Fork strategy deliver on its organic promises? Some critical reflections. *EuroChoices*, 20 (1):30–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/1746-692X.12294
- Muhammad, A., Li, J., Hu, W., Yu, J., Khan, S.U., Khan, M.H.U., Xie, G., Wang, J. and Wang, L., (2021). Uncovering genomic regions controlling plant architectural traits in hexaploid wheat using different GWAS models. *Scientific reports*, 11:6767. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-86127-z
- Mulugeta, B., Tesfaye, K., Ortiz, R., Johansson, E., Hailesilassie, T., Hammenhag, C., Hailu, F. and Geleta, M. (2023). Marker-trait association analyses revealed major novel QTLs for grain yield and related traits in durum wheat. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 13: 1009244. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.1009244
- Murray, J.M., Delahunty, C.M. and Baxter, I.A. (2001). Descriptive sensory analysis: past, present and future. *Food Research International*, 34 (6):461–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0963-9969(01)00070-9
- Nadeem, M.A., Nawaz, M.A., Shahid, M.Q., Doğan, Y., Comertpay, G., Yıldız, M., Hatipoğlu, R., Ahmad, F., Alsaleh, A., Labhane, N., Özkan, H., Chung, G. and Baloch, F.S. (2018). DNA molecular markers in plant breeding: current status and recent advancements in genomic selection and genome editing. *Biotechnology and Biotechnological Equipment*, 32(2):261-285. https://doi.org/10.1080/13102818.2017.1400401
- Nestel, P., Bouis, H.E., Meenakshi, J.V. and Pfeiffer, W. (2006). Biofortification of Staple Food Crops. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 136(4):1064-1067. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/136.4.1064

- Newell, M.A., Asoro, F.G., Scott, M.P., White, P.J., Beavis, W.D. and Jannink, J.-L. (2012). Genome-wide association study for oat (Avena sativa L.) beta-glucan concentration using germplasm of worldwide origin. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 125(8):1687-1696. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-012-1945-0
- Ogundeji, Y.K., Akomolafe, B., Ohiri, K. and Butawa, N.N. (2019). Factors influencing willingness and ability to pay for social health insurance in Nigeria. *Plos One*, 14(8):e0220558. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220558
- Okarter, N., Liu, C.-S., Sorrells, M.E. and Liu, R.H. (2010). Phytochemical content and antioxidant activity of six diverse varieties of whole wheat. *Food Chemistry*, 119 (1):249–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2009.06.021
- Oladosu, Y., Rafii, M.Y., Abdullah, N., Hussin, G., Ramli, A., Rahim, H.A., Miah, G. and Usman, M. (2016). Principle and application of plant mutagenesis in crop improvement: a review. *Biotechnology and Biotechnological Equipment*, 30(1):1-16. https://doi.org/10.1080/13102818.2015.
- Onipe, O.O., Jideani, A.I.O. and Beswa, D. (2015). Composition and functionality of wheat bran and its application in some cereal food products. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 50 (12):2509–2518. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijfs.12935
- Ortiz-Monasterio, J.I., Palacios-Rojas, N., Meng, E., Pixley, K., Trethowan, R. and Peña, R.J. (2007). Enhancing the mineral and vitamin content of wheat and maize through plant breeding. *The Contribution of Cereals to a Healthy Diet*, 46 (3):293–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2007.06.005
- Parker, M.L., Ng, A. and Waldron, K.W. (2005). The phenolic acid and polysaccharide composition of cell walls of bran layers of mature wheat (Triticum aestivum L. cv. Avalon) grains. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 85 (15):2539–2547. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.2304
- Pasqualone, A., Summo, C., Laddomada, B., Mudura, E. and Coldea, T.E. (2018). Effect of processing variables on the physico-chemical characteristics and aroma of borş, a traditional beverage derived from wheat bran. *Food Chemistry*, 265:242-252. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.05.095
- Patz, J.A., Frumkin, H., Holloway, T., Vimont, D.J. and Haines, A., 2014. Climate change: challenges and opportunities for global health. *Jama*, 312(15):1565-1580. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.13186.
- Payne, P.I. (1987). Genetics of wheat storage proteins and the effect of allelic variation on bread-making quality. *Annual review of plant physiology*, 38 (1):141–153
- Pekala, (2020). Market analysis of organic foods in the Nordic and Baltic countries. *The Nordic Council of Ministers. Copenhagen*. https://doi.org/10.6027/TN2019-540
- Peleg, Z., Fahima, T., Korol, A.B., Abbo, S. and Saranga, Y. (2011). Genetic analysis of wheat domestication and evolution under domestication. Journal of experimental botany, 62(14):5051-5061. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/err206
- Penner, G.A., Bezte, L.J., Leisle, D. and Clarke, J. (1995). Identification of RAPD markers linked to a gene governing cadmium uptake in durum wheat. *Genome*. 38(3):543–547. doi: 10.1139/g95-070.
- Pérez-De-Castro, A. M., and Cañizares, J. (2017). GBS and NGS: Important tools for crop breeding improvement. *Advances in Genetics and Genomics*, 5(3):1-19
- Phuke, R.M., He, X., Juliana, P., Kabir, M.R., Roy, K.K., Marza, F., Roy, C., Singh, G.P., Chawade, A., Joshi, A.K. and Singh, P.K. (2022). Identification of Genomic Regions and Sources for Wheat Blast Resistance through GWAS in Indian Wheat Genotypes. *Genes (Basel)*, 13(4:596. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes13040596
- Piquerez, S.J.M., Harvey, S.E., Beynon, J.L. and Ntoukakis, V. (2014). Improving crop disease resistance: lessons from research on Arabidopsis and tomato. *Frontiers in Plant*

Science,5:697.https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/plantscience/articles/10.3389/fpls. 2014.00671

- Poblaciones, M.J., López-Bellido, L. and López-Bellido, R.J. (2009). Field estimation of technological bread-making quality in wheat. *Field Crops Research*, 112 (2), 253–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2009.03.011
- Poland, J. A., Brown, P. J., Sorrells, M. E., and Jannink, J. L. (2012). Development of highdensity genetic maps for barley and wheat using a novel two-enzyme genotyping-bysequencing approach. *PloS one*, 7(2):e32253
- Posner, E.S. (2000). Wheat. In: Kulp, K.E. (ed.) *Handbook of Cereal Science and Technology, revised and expanded.* 2nd edition. Crc Press. 1-29. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1201/9781420027228
- Pritchard. J.K. and Przeworski, M. (2001) Linkage disequilibrium in humans: models and data. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 69:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1086/321275
- Puntis, J.W.L. (2009). Malnutrition in Developed Countries. Annales Nestlé (English ed.), 67 (2), 65–72. https://doi.org/10.1159/000226614
- Purcell, S., Neale, B., Todd-Brown, K., Thomas, L., Ferreira, M. A. R., Bender, D., ... and Sham, P. C. (2007). PLINK: A tool set for whole-genome association and populationbased linkage analyses. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 81(3):559-575. https://doi.org/10.1086/519795
- Rabinovich, S.V. (1998). Importance of wheat-rye translocations for breeding modern cultivar of Triticum aestivum L. *Euphytica*, 100 (1):323–340. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018361819215
- Rafati-Rahimzadeh, M., Rafati-Rahimzadeh, M., Kazemi, S. and Moghadamnia, A. (2017). Cadmium toxicity and treatment: An update. *babol-caspjim*, 8 (3):135–145. https://doi.org/10.22088/cjim.8.3.135
- Rahmatov, M., Otambekova, M., Muminjanov, H., Rouse, M.N., Hovmøller, M.S., Nazari, K., Steffenson, B.J. and Johansson, E. (2019). Characterization of stem, stripe and leaf rust resistance in Tajik bread wheat accessions. *Euphytica*, 215:1-22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-019-2377-6
- Rahmatov, M., Rouse, M.N., Nirmala, J., Danilova, T., Friebe, B., Steffenson, B.J. and Johansson, E. (2016a). A new 2DS·2RL Robertsonian translocation transfers stem rust resistance gene Sr59 into wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 129 (7):1383–1392. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-016-2710-6
- Rahmatov, M., Rouse, M.N., Steffenson, B.J., Andersson, S.C., Wanyera, R., Pretorius, Z.A., Houben, A., Kumarse, N., Bhavani, S. and Johansson, E. (2016b). Sources of Stem Rust Resistance in Wheat-Alien Introgression Lines. *Plant Disease*, 100(6):1101-1109. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-12-15-1448-RE
- Rajaram, S. and Braun, H.J. (2008). Wheat yield potential. In International Symposium on Wheat Yield Potential: Challenges to International Wheat Breeding. CIMMYT (International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center), 103-107, Mexico.
- Raman, H., Stodart, B.J., Cavanagh, C., Mackay, M., Morell, M., Milgate, A. and Martin, P., (2010). Molecular diversity and genetic structure of modern and traditional landrace cultivars of wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Crop and Pasture Science*, 61(3):222-229. https://doi.org/10.1071/CP09093
- Rasheed, A., Hao, Y., Xia, X., Khan, A., Xu, Y., Varshney, R. K., and He, Z. (2017). Crop breeding chips and genotyping platforms: Progress, challenges, and perspectives. *Molecular Plant*, 10:1047–1064. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molp.2017.06.008.
- Rasheed, A., Wen, W., Gao, F., Zhai, S., Jin, H., Liu, J., Guo, Q., Zhang, Y., Dreisigacker, S., Xia, X. and He, Z. (2016). Development and validation of KASP assays for genes

underpinning key economic traits in bread wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 129 (10):1843–1860. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-016-2743-x

- Rathan, N.D., Krishna, H., Ellur, R.K., Sehgal, D., Govindan, V., Ahlawat, A.K., Krishnappa, G., Jaiswal, J.P., Singh, J.B., Sv, S., Ambati, D., Singh, S.K., Bajpai, K. and Mahendru-Singh, A. (2022). Genome-wide association study identifies loci and candidate genes for grain micronutrients and quality traits in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Scientific Reports*, 12(1):7037. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-10618-w
- Rauf, S., da Silva, J.T., Khan, A.A. and Naveed, A. (2010). Consequences of plant breeding on genetic diversity. *International Journal of Plant Breeding*, 4(1):1-21.
- Rawale, K.S., Khan, M.A. and Gill, K.S. (2019). The novel function of the Ph1 gene to differentiate homologs from homoeologs evolved in Triticum turgidum ssp. dicoccoides via a dramatic meiosis-specific increase in the expression of the 5B copy of the C-Ph1 gene. Chromosoma 128:561–570. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00412-019-00724-6
- Reganold, J.P. and Wachter, J.M. (2016). Organic agriculture in the twenty-first century. *Nature Plants*, 2 (2):15221. https://doi.org/10.1038/nplants.2015.221
- Reganold, J.P., Andrews, P.K., Reeve, J.R., Carpenter-Boggs, L., Schadt, C.W., Alldredge, J.R., Ross, C.F., Davies, N.M. and Zhou, J. (2010). Correction: Fruit and Soil Quality of Organic and Conventional Strawberry Agroecosystems. *PLOS ONE*, 5 (10): p.e12346. 10.1371/annotation/1eefd0a4-77af-4f48-98c3-2c5696ca9e7a. https://doi.org/10.1371/annotation/1eefd0a4-77af-4f48-98c3-2c5696ca9e7a
- Rey, E., Molnár, I. and Doležel, J. (2015). Genomics of Wild Relatives and Alien Introgressions. In: Molnár-Láng, M., Ceoloni, C., and Doležel, J. (eds) Alien Introgression in Wheat: Cytogenetics, Molecular Biology, and Genomics. Cham: Springer International Publishing. 347–381. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-23494-6 13
- Reynolds, M., Foulkes, M.J., Slafer, G.A., Berry, P., Parry, M.A., Snape, J.W. and Angus, W.J. (2009). Raising yield potential in wheat. *Journal of experimental botany*, 60(7):1899-1918. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erp016
- Reynolds, M.P. and Braun, H.-J. (2022). Wheat improvement: food security in a changing climate. Springer Nature, 629. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-90673-3
- Ribaut, J.M., Bänziger, M., Betran, J., Jiang, C., Edmeades, G.O., Dreher, K. and Hoisington, D. (2002). Use of molecular markers in plant breeding: drought tolerance improvement in tropical maize. In: *Quantitative genetics, genomics and plant breeding*. CABI Publishing Wallingford UK. 85–99. https://doi.org/10.1079/9780851996011.0085
- Romay, M., Millard, M., Glaubitz, J., Peiffer, J., Swarts, K. and Casstevens, T. (2013). and MD McMullen, 2013 Comprehensive genotyping of the USA national maize inbred seed bank. *Genome Biology*, 14:1-18. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2013-14-6-r55
- Roncallo, P.F., Beaufort, V., Larsen, A.O., Dreisigacker, S. and Echenique, V. (2019). Genetic diversity and linkage disequilibrium using SNP (KASP) and AFLP markers in a worldwide durum wheat (Triticum turgidum L. var durum) collection. PloS one, 14(6):e0218562. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0218562
- Roy, C., Kumar, S., Ranjan, R.D., Kumhar, S.R. and Govindan, V., 2022. Genomic approaches for improving grain zinc and iron content in wheat. *Frontiers in Genetics* 13: 1045955. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2022.1045955
- Sahu, P. K., Sao, R., Mondal, S., Vishwakarma, G., Gupta, S. K., Kumar, V., Singh, S., Sharma, D. and Das, B.K. (2020). Next generation sequencing based forward genetic approaches for identification and mapping of causal mutations in crop plants: A comprehensive review. *Plants*, 9(10):1355. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9101355.

- Salgotra, R.K. and Chauhan, B.S. (2023). Genetic Diversity, Conservation, and Utilization of Plant Genetic Resources. *Genes*, 14 (1). https://doi.org/10.3390/genes14010174
- Sarkar P., Stebbins G. L. (1956). Morphological evidence concerning the origin of the B genome in wheat. *American Journal of Botany*, 42:297–304. https://doi.org/10.2307/2438947
- Sarwar, M.H., Sarwar, M.F., Sarwar, M., Qadri, N.A. and Moghal, S. (2013). The importance of cereals (Poaceae: Gramineae) nutrition in human health: A review. *Journal of cereals and oilseeds*, 4(3):32-35. DOI 10.5897/JCO12.023
- Scheben, A., and Edwards, D. (2018). Genome-wide genotyping by sequencing for crop improvement. *Current opinion in plant biology*, 36:88-94
- Scherer, L.A., Verburg, P.H. and Schulp, C.J.E. (2018). Opportunities for sustainable intensification in European agriculture. *Global Environmental Change*, 48:43–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2017.11.009
- Semagn, K., Babu, R., Hearne, S., and Olsen, M. (2014). Single nucleotide polymorphism genotyping using Kompetitive allele specific PCR (KASP): Overview of the technology and its application in crop improvement. *Molecular Breeding*, 33:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11032-013-9917-x
- Sharma, S., Schulthess, A.W., Bassi, F.M., Badaeva, E.D., Neumann, K., Graner, A., Özkan, H., Werner, P., Knüpffer, H. and Kilian, B. (2021). Introducing beneficial alleles from plant genetic resources into the wheat germplasm. *Biology*, 10(10):982. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.3390/biology10100982
- Shavrukov, Y. (2016). Comparison of SNP and CAPS markers application in genetic research in wheat and barley. *Bmc Plant Biology*, 16(1):11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-015-0689-9
- Shewry, P. (2019). What is gluten—Why is it special? *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 6:101. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2019.00101
- Shewry, P. (2023). Wheat grain proteins: Past, present, and future. *Cereal chemistry*, 100 (1):9–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/cche.10585
- Shewry, P.R. (2009). Wheat. Journal of Experimental Botany, 60 (6):1537–1553. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erp058
- Shewry, P.R. and Hey, S. (2015b). Do "ancient" wheat species differ from modern bread wheat in their contents of bioactive components? *Journal of Cereal Science*, 65:236–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2015.07.014
- Shewry, P.R. and Hey, S.J. (2015a). The contribution of wheat to human diet and health. *Food and Energy Security*, 4(3):178-202. https://doi.org/10.1002/fes3.64
- Shewry, P.R. and Tatham, A.S. (2016). Improving wheat to remove coeliac epitopes but retain functionality. *Functionality of Cereal Based Non-gluten Dough Systems*, 67:12–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2015.06.005
- Shewry, P.R. and Ward, J.L. (2012b). Exploiting genetic variation to improve wheat composition for the prevention of chronic diseases. *Food and Energy Security*, 1 (1):47–60. https://doi.org/10.1002/fes3.2
- Shewry, P.R., Halford, N.G. and Lafiandra, D. (2003a). Genetics of Wheat Gluten Proteins. *Advances in Genetics*, 49:111–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2660(03)01003-4
- Shewry, P.R., Halford, N.G., Belton, P.S. and Tatham, A.S. (2002). The structure and properties of gluten: an elastic protein from wheat grain. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences, 357(1418):133-142. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2001.1024
- Shewry, P.R., Halford, N.G., Tatham, A.S., Popineau, Y., Lafiandra, D. and Belton, P.S. (2003b). The high molecular weight subunits of wheat glutenin and their role in determining wheat processing properties. In: Advances in Food and Nutrition

Research. Academic Press. 219–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1043-4526(03)45006-7

- Shewry, P.R., Lafiandra, D. and Bedo, Z. (2012a). Improving the nutritional quality and health benefits of wheat. *Quality Assurance and Safety of Crops and Foods*, 4 (3):136–136. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1757-837X.2012.00138.x
- Shewry, P.R., Piironen, V., Lampi, A.-M., Edelmann, M., Kariluoto, S., Nurmi, T., Fernandez-Orozco, R., Ravel, C., Charmet, G., Andersson, A.A.M., Åman, P., Boros, D., Gebruers, K., Dornez, E., Courtin, C.M., Delcour, J.A., Rakszegi, M., Bedo, Z. and Ward, J.L. (2010). The Healthgrain Wheat Diversity Screen: Effects of Genotype and Environment on Phytochemicals and Dietary Fiber Components. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58 (17):9291–9298. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf100039b
- Shewry, P.R., Wan, Y., Hawkesford, M.J. and Tosi, P. (2020). Spatial distribution of functional components in the starchy endosperm of wheat grains. *Journal of cereal science*, 91:102869. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2019.102869
- Shiferaw, B., Smale, M., Braun, H.-J., Duveiller, E., Reynolds, M. and Muricho, G. (2013). Crops that feed the world 10. Past successes and future challenges to the role played by wheat in global food security. *Food Security*, 5(3):291-317. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-013-0263-y
- Siddiqi, R.A., Singh, T.P., Rani, M., Sogi, D.S. and Bhat, M.A. (2020). Diversity in Grain, Flour, Amino Acid Composition, Protein Profiling, and Proportion of Total Flour Proteins of Different Wheat Cultivars of North India. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 7:141. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2020.00141
- Singh, D.P., Singh, A.K. and Singh, A. (2021). *Plant breeding and cultivar development*. Charlotte Cockle, Academic Press.
- Singh, J., Blundell, M., Tanner, G. and Skerritt, J.H. (2001). Albumin and Globulin Proteins of Wheat Flour: Immunological and N-terminal Sequence Characterisation. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 34 (1):85–103. https://doi.org/10.1006/jcrs.2001.0380
- Snowdon, R.J., Wittkop, B., Chen, T.-W. and Stahl, A. (2021). Crop adaptation to climate change as a consequence of long-term breeding. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 134(6):1613-1623. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-020-03729-3
- Song, Q.J., Shi, J.R., Singh, S., Fickus, E.W., Costa, J.M., Lewis, J., Gill, B.S., Ward, R. and Cregan, P. (2005). Development and mapping of microsatellite (SSR) markers in wheat. *Theoretical and applied genetics*, 110:550-560. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-004-1871-x
- Song, Y. and Zheng, Q. (2007). Dynamic rheological properties of wheat flour dough and proteins. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 18(3):132–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2006.11.003
- Sönmez, M.E., Güleç, T., Demir, B., Bayraç, C., Çakmak, M. and Aydın, N. (2023). Molecular screening of the landraces from Turkey and modern bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) cultivars for HMW-GS, wbm, waxy genes and Lr34 gene. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution*, 70 (3):775–788. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10722-022-01460-0
- Sosulski, F., Krygier, K. and Hogge, L. (1982). Free, esterified, and insoluble-bound phenolic acids. 3. Composition of phenolic acids in cereal and potato flours. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 30 (2):337–340. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf00110a030
- Spindel, J., Begum, H., Akdemir, D., Virk, P., Collard, B., Redona, E., Atlin, G., Jannink, J.-L. and McCouch, S.R. (2015). Genomic selection and association mapping in rice (Oryza sativa): effect of trait genetic architecture, training population composition, marker number and statistical model on accuracy of rice genomic selection in elite, tropical

rice breeding lines. *Plos Genetics*, 11(2):e1004982. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1004982

- Spindel, J.E., Begum, H., Akdemir, D., Collard, B., Redoña, E., Jannink, J.L. and McCouch, S. (2016). Genome-wide prediction models that incorporate de novo GWAS are a powerful new tool for tropical rice improvement. *Heredity*, 116(4):395-408. https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.2015.113
- Srinivasa, J., Arun, B., Mishra, V.K., Singh, G.P., Velu, G., Babu, R., Vasistha, N.K. and Joshi, A.K. (2014). Zinc and iron concentration QTL mapped in a Triticum spelta × T. aestivum cross. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 127(7):1643-1651. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-014-2327-6
- Stein, A.J. (2010). Global impacts of human mineral malnutrition. *Plant and Soil*, 335(1):133-154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-009-0228-2
- Stevenson, L., Phillips, F., O'sullivan, K. and Walton, J. (2012). Wheat bran: its composition and benefits to health, a European perspective. *International Journal of Food Sciences* and Nutrition, 63(8):1001–1013. https://doi.org/10.3109/09637486.2012.687366
- Subedi, M., Ghimire, B., Bagwell, J.W., Buck, J.W. and Mergoum, M. (2023). Wheat end-use quality: State of art, genetics, genomics-assisted improvement, future challenges, and opportunities. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 13:1032601. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2022.1032601
- Sun, L., Wen, J., Peng, H., Yao, Y., Hu, Z., Ni, Z., Sun, Q. and Xin, M. (2022). The genetic and molecular basis for improving heat stress tolerance in wheat. *Abiotech*, 3(1): 25-39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42994-021-00064-z
- Sutton, T., Whitford, R., Baumann, U., Dong, C., Able, J.A. and Langridge, P. (2003). The Ph2 pairing homoeologous locus of wheat (Triticum aestivum): identification of candidate meiotic genes using a comparative genetics approach. *The Plant Journal*, 36(4):443-456. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-313X.2003.01891.x
- Swedish Government (2017). En livsmedelsstrategi för Sverige fler jobb och hållbar tillväxt i hela landet. Swedish Government, Stockholm.
- Swingland, I.R. (2001). Biodiversity, definition of. *Encyclopedia of biodiversity*, 1:377-391. https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1andtype=pdfanddoi=ef96393393b3 a4c9517db3b78cdafbb5349fbf0e
- Tadesse, W., Amri, A., Ogbonnaya, F.C., Sanchez-Garcia, M., Sohail, Q. and Baum, M. (2016). Wheat. In Genetic and genomic resources for grain cereals improvement, 81-124, *Academic Press*. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802000-5.00002-2
- Tan JJ, Wang JW, Chai TY, et al. Functional analyses of TaHMA2, a P1B-type ATPase in wheat. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*. 2013;11(4):420–431. doi: 10.1111/pbi.12027.
- The Swedish National Chemicals Inspectorate (1998). Cadmium exposure in the Swedish environment. (SE 9807143-146). https://www.osti.gov/etdeweb/servlets/purl/646188 [2024-01-04]
- Thomson, M.J. (2014). High-throughput SNP genotyping to accelerate crop improvement. *Plant Breeding and Biotechnology*, 2 (3):195–212. https://doi.org/10.9787/PBB.2014.2.3.195
- Thudi, M., Palakurthi, R., Schnable, J. C., Chitikineni, A., Dreisigacker, S., Mace, E., Srivastava, R. K., Satyavathi, C. T., Odeny, D., Tiwari, V. K., Lam, H. M., Hong, Y. B., Singh, V. K., Li, G., Xu, Y., Chen, X., Kaila, S., Nguyen, H., Sivasankar, S., ... Varshney, R. K. (2021). Genomic resources in plant breeding for sustainable agriculture. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 257:153351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2020.153351.
- Tian, W., Zheng, Y., Wang, W., Wang, D., Tilley, M., Zhang, G., He, Z. and Li, Y. (2022). A comprehensive review of wheat phytochemicals: From farm to fork and beyond.

Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety, 21 (3):2274–2308. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12960

- Tishler, Y., Samach, A., Rogachev, I., Elbaum, R. and Levy, A.A. (2015). Analysis of Wheat Straw Biodiversity for Use as a Feedstock for Biofuel Production. *Bioenergy Research*, 8(4):1831-1839. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12155-015-9631-0
- Torbica, A., Škrobot, D., Janić Hajnal, E., Belović, M. and Zhang, N. (2019). Sensory and physico-chemical properties of wholegrain wheat bread prepared with selected food by-products. *LWT*, 114:108414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2019.108414
- Tudi, M., Daniel Ruan, H., Wang, L., Lyu, J., Sadler, R., Connell, D., Chu, C. and Phung, D.T. (2021). Agriculture Development, Pesticide Application and Its Impact on the Environment. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18 (3):1112. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18031112
- Tuomisto, H.L., Hodge, I.D., Riordan, P. and Macdonald, D.W. (2012). Does organic farming reduce environmental impacts? – A meta-analysis of European research. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 112:309–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2012.08.018
- Uauy, C., Distelfeld, A., Fahima, T., Blechl, A. and Dubcovsky, J. (2006). A NAC Gene Regulating Senescence Improves Grain Protein, Zinc, and Iron Content in Wheat. *Science*, 314 (5803):1298–1301. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1133649
- Uffelmann, E., Huang, Q.Q., Munung, N.S., de Vries, J., Okada, Y., Martin, A.R., Martin, H.C., Lappalainen, T. and Posthuma, D. (2021). Genome-wide association studies. *Nature Reviews Methods Primers*, 1(1):59. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43586-021-00056-9
- Velu, G., Atanda, S., Singh, R.P., Huerta-Espino, J., Crespo-Herrera, L.A., Juliana, P., Mondal, S., Joshi, A.K. and Bentley, A.R. (2022). Breeding increases grain yield, zinc, and iron, supporting enhanced wheat biofortification. *Crop Science*, 62(5):1912-1925. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/csc2.20759
- Vignal, A., Milan, D., SanCristobal, M. and Eggen, A. (2002). A review on SNP and other types of molecular markers and their use in animal genetics. *Genetics Selection Evolution*, 34 (3):275. https://doi.org/10.1186/1297-9686-34-3-275
- Vishwakarma, H., Junaid, A., Manjhi, J., Singh, G.P., Gaikwad, K. and Padaria, J.C. (2018). Heat stress transcripts, differential expression, and profiling of heat stress tolerant gene TaHsp90 in Indian wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) cv C306. *Plos One*, 13(6):e0198293. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198293
- Vogel, K.P., Johnson, V.A. and Mattern, P.J. (1976). Protein and Lysine Content of Grain, Endosperm, and Bran of Wheats from the USDA World Wheat Collection. *Crop Science*, 16 (5), cropsci1976.0011183X001600050014x.
- Vos, P., Hogers, R., Bleeker, M., Reijans, M., Lee, T.v.d., Hornes, M., Friters, A., Pot, J., Paleman, J., Kuiper, M. and Zabeau, M. (1995). AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. *Nucleic acids research*, 23(21):4407-4414. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/23.21.4407
- Voss-Fels, K.P., Stahl, A. and Hickey, L.T. (2019). QandA: modern crop breeding for future food security. *BMC Biology*, 17 (1):18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12915-019-0638-4
- Wang, D., Li, F., Cao, S. and Zhang, K. (2020). Genomic and functional genomics analyses of gluten proteins and prospect for simultaneous improvement of end-use and healthrelated traits in wheat. *Theoretical Applied Genetics*, 133:1521–1539. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-020-03557-5
- Wang, J., Tang, Y. and Zhang, Z. (2022). Performing Genome-Wide Association Studies with Multiple Models Using GAPIT. In Genome-Wide Association Studies, 199-217. New York, NY: Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-0716-2237-7 13

- Wang, Q., Tian, F., Pan, Y., Buckler, E.S. and Zhang, Z. (2014) A SUPER powerful method for genome wide association study. *PLoS One* 9(9):e107684. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0107684
- Wang, S., Wong, D., Forrest, K., Allen, A., Chao, S., Huang, B.E., Maccaferri, M., Salvi, S., Milner, S.G., Cattivelli, L., Mastrangelo, A.M., Whan, A., Stephen, S., Barker, G., Wieseke, R., Plieske, J., Consortium, I.W.G.S., Lillemo, M., Mather, D., Appels, R., Dolferus, R., Brown-Guedira, G., Korol, A., Akhunova, A.R., Feuillet, C., Salse, J., Morgante, M., Pozniak, C., Luo, M.-C., Dvorak, J., Morell, M., Dubcovsky, J., Ganal, M., Tuberosa, R., Lawley, C., Mikoulitch, I., Cavanagh, C., Edwards, K.J., Hayden, M. and Akhunov, E. (2014). Characterization of polyploid wheat genomic diversity using a high-density 90 000 single nucleotide polymorphism array. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, 12(6):787-796. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/pbi.12183
- Warburton, M.L., Crossa, J., Franco, J., Kazi, M., Trethowan, R., Rajaram, S., Pfeiffer, W., Zhang, P., Dreisigacker, S. and Ginkel, M.V. Bringing wild relatives back into the family: recovering genetic diversity in CIMMYT improved wheat germplasm. Euphytica 149:289–301 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-005-9077-0
- Welch, R.M. and Graham, R.D. (1999). A new paradigm for world agriculture: Meeting human needs. Productive, sustainable, nutritious. *Field Crops Research*, 60 (1–2):1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4290(98)00129-4
- Welch, R.M. and Graham, R.D. (2004). Breeding for micronutrients in staple food crops from a human nutrition perspective. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 55 (396):353–364. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erh064
- WHO., F.I.U.W. (2022). The State of Food and Nutrition in the World. (Repurposing Food and Agricultural Policies to make Healthy Dients.). Rome, Italy: FAO; IFAD; UNICEF; WFP; WHO. https://www.fao.org/documents/card/en/c/cc0639en
- Wiebe, K., Harris, N.S., Faris, J.D., Clarke, J.M., Knox, R.E., Taylor, G.J. and Pozniak, C.J. Targeted mapping of Cdu1, a major locus regulating grain cadmium concentration in durum wheat (Triticum turgidum L. var durum) *Theor Appl Genet*. 2010;121(6):1047– 1058. doi: 10.1007/s00122-010-1370-1.
- Wieser, H., Koehler, P. and Scherf, K.A. (2023). Chemistry of wheat gluten proteins: Qualitative composition. *Cereal Chemistry*, 100(1):23-35. https://doi.org/10.1002/cche.10572
- Willer, H. (2010). Organic agriculture worldwide: current statistics. In: *the World of organic agriculture*. Routledge. 23–46.
- Williams, J.G., Kubelik, A.R., Livak, K.J., Rafalski, J.A. and Tingey, S.V. (1990). DNA polymorphisms amplified by arbitrary primers are useful as genetic markers. *Nucleic acids research*, 18(22):6531-6535.
- Wrigley, C.W., Békés, F. and Bushuk, W. (2006). Gluten: A balance of gliadin and glutenin. *Gliadin and glutenin: The unique balance of wheat quality*, 3–32
- Wu, D., Li, X., Tanaka, R., Wood, J.C., Tibbs-Cortes, L.E., Magallanes-Lundback, M., Bornowski, N., Hamilton, J.P., Vaillancourt, B., Diepenbrock, C.H., Li, X., Deason, N.T., Schoenbaum, G.R., Yu, J., Buell, C.R., DellaPenna, D. and Gore, M.A. (2022). Combining GWAS and TWAS to identify candidate causal genes for tocochromanol levels in maize grain. *Genetics*, 221(4):iyac091. https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/iyac091
- Wu, G., Wu, Z., Dai, Z., Yang, Y., Wang, W., Liu, C., Wang, B., Wang, J. and Yin, Y. (2013). Dietary requirements of "nutritionally non-essential amino acids" by animals and humans. *Amino Acids*, 44 (4):1107–1113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00726-012-1444-2

- Xiao, L., Liu, L., Asseng, S., Xia, Y., Tang, L., Liu, B., Cao, W. and Zhu, Y. (2018). Estimating spring frost and its impact on yield across winter wheat in China. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 260-261:154-164. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2018.06.006
- Yang, Q., Yang, Z., Tang, H., Yu, Y., Chen, Z., Wei, S., Sun, Q. and Peng, Z. (2018). Highdensity genetic map construction and mapping of the homologous transformation
- density genetic map construction and mapping of the homologous transformation sterility gene (hts) in wheat using GBS markers. *Bmc Plant Biology*, 18(1):301. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-018-1532-x
- Yang, Z., Chen, Z., Peng, Z., Yu, Y., Liao, M. and Wei, S. (2017). Development of a highdensity linkage map and mapping of the three-pistil gene (Pis1) in wheat using GBS markers. *Bmc Genomics*, 18(1):567. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-017-3960-7
- Yazdani, M., Rouse, M. N., Steffenson, B. J., Bajgain, P., Patpour M., Johansson, E and Rahmatov, M. (2023) Developing adapted wheat lines with broad-spectrum resistance to stem rust: Introgression of *Sr59* through backcrossing and selections based on genotyping-by-sequencing data. *PLOS ONE* 18(10): e0292724. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0292724
- Yong, Z., Zhonghu, H., Ye, G., Aimin, Z. and Van Ginkel, M. (2004). Effect of environment and genotype on bread-making quality of spring-sown spring wheat cultivars in China. *Euphytica*, 139(1):75-83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-004-2131-5
- Yoosefzadeh-Najafabadi, M., Eskandari, M., Belzile, F. and Torkamaneh, D. (2022). Genome-wide association study statistical models: A review. In: Davoud Torkamaneh, F.B. (ed.) *Genome-Wide Association Studies*. Humana New York, NY. 43-62. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-0716-2237-7 4
- Yu, J.K. (2020). Advanced Breeding Technologies for Accelerating Genetic Gain. Plant breeding and biotechnology, 8(3):203-210. https://doi.org/10.9787/PBB.2020.8.3.203
- Zaccone, C., Di Caterina, R., Rotunno, T. and Quinto, M. (2010). Soil farming system food – health: Effect of conventional and organic fertilizers on heavy metal (Cd, Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb, Zn) content in semolina samples. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 107 (2):97–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2010.02.004
- Zaid, I.U., Zheng, X. and Li, X. (2018). Breeding Low-Cadmium Wheat: Progress and Perspectives. *Agronomy*, 8 (11):249. https://dharoi.org/10.3390/agronomy8110249
- Zeece, M. (2020). Introduction to the Chemistry of Food. Charlotte Cockle, Academic Press, Elsevier.
- Zeibig, F., Kilian, B. and Frei, M. (2022). The grain quality of wheat wild relatives in the evolutionary context. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 135(11):4029-4048. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-021-04013-8
- Zhang, L., García-Pérez, P., Martinelli, E., Giuberti, G., Trevisan, M. and Lucini, L. (2023). Different fractions from wheat flour provide distinctive phenolic profiles and different bioaccessibility of polyphenols following in vitro digestion. *Journal of Food Chemistry*, 404:134540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2022.134540
- Zhang, L.-L., Guan, E.-Q., Zhang, K.-G., Zhang, T.-J. and Bian, K. (2022). The aggregation characteristics of wheat globulin induced by heating and edible salts and its effects on noodle processing quality. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 154:112803. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2021.112803
- Zhang, Y., and Gladyshev, V. N. (2007). High content of proteins containing 21st and 22nd amino acids, selenocysteine and pyrrolysine, in a symbiotic deltaproteobacterium of gutless worm Olavius algarvensis. *Nucleic acids research*, 35(15):4952–4963. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkm514
- Zhang-Biehn, S., Fritz, A.K., Zhang, G., Evers, B., Regan, R. and Poland, J. (2021). Accelerating wheat breeding for end-use quality through association mapping and

multivariate genomic prediction. *The Plant Genome*, 14(3):e20164. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/tpg2.20164

- Zhao, Y., Wang, Y., Jiang, Z.-T. and Li, R. (2017). Screening and evaluation of active compounds in polyphenol mixtures by HPLC coupled with chemical methodology and its application. *Food Chemistry*, 227:187–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.01.085
- Zhou, X., and Stephens, M. (2012). Genome-wide efficient mixed-model analysis for association studies. *Nature Genetics*, 44(7):821-824. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2310
- Zhou, Z., Shi, X., Zhao, G., Qin, M., Ibba, M.I., Wang, Y., Li, W., Yang, P., Wu, Z., Lei, Z. and Wang, J. (2020). Identification of Novel Genomic Regions and Superior Alleles Associated with Zn Accumulation in Wheat Using a Genome-Wide Association Analysis Method. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(6):1928. https://www.mdpi.com/1422-0067/21/6/1928
- Zhou, Z., Zhang, Z., Mason, A.S., Chen, L., Liu, C., Qin, M., Li, W., Tian, B., Wu, Z., Lei, Z. and Hou, J. (2021). Quantitative traits loci mapping and molecular marker development for total glutenin and glutenin fraction contents in wheat. BMC Plant Biology, 21:1-13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-021-03221-0